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Tuesday, August 2, 2022
--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's go on the air, please, Teresa.

Good morning, everyone.  Welcome to day 2 of our technical conference.

I think there are a very brief preliminary matter.  Mr. McGillivray, can I turn it over to you.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Good morning.  It is Jonathan McGillivray, counsel for Three Fires Group.  I would just like to enter an additional appearance for Three Fires Group, for Zack Hamm.  It's Z-A-C-K H-A-M-M.   Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  And with that, I think we can get right back to our questioning.  If the witnesses could turn their cameras on, and I think we will turn it over to Mr. Brophy.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 1, resumed
Hilary Thompson

Jeff Cadotte

Steven Pardy

Mike Hildebrand

Bob Wellington

David Janisse

Cara-Lynne Wade

Shawn Khoshaien


MR. BROPHY:  Great.  I will just jump in then if everyone is ready to go.

MR. KEIZER:  Mike, Just before you do, Mr. Brophy, I believe I only had one small preliminary matter.  There was a minor correction that I believe Ms. Wade wanted to make related to a comment she made last week.

MS. WADE:  Yes, good morning.

MR. MILLAR:  Please go ahead.

MS. WADE:  Thank you.  Yes, so just a quick correction.  So on page 188 of the transcript, line 8 and 9, I answered Mr. McGillivray's question from line 3 and 4 where he asks:

"I think the number was given 600,000 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent per year."

And I answered "that is correct".  The correction I just wanted to make is that the number should be 600 tonnes of CO2e, not 600,000, as I quote later in the transcript.  And that is it.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you very much.
 Mr. Brophy.
Examination by Mr. Brophy:

MR. BROPHY:  Great.  So I am going to start -- I had a couple of questions that relate to the asset management plan, and I have references, but there is quite a lot of references in the -- both the IR responses and evidence by Enbridge in relation to Enbridge's 2021 to 2025 asset management plan.

So I can go through those, or why don't I just jump into the questions, and if you need me to take you places I can easily do that.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Brophy, you say you have questions on the asset management plan?  But you don't make a reference to an IR?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. BROPHY:  No.  I said there is multiple references, so just to satisfy your curiosity, I will give you a reference, and I can give you other ones if you want.

So why don't I just start with Pollution Probe 2B, and the company indicates that this project forms part of the Enbridge Gas's 2021 to 2025 asset management plan, which can be found at EB-2020-0181, Exhibit C, tab 2, schedule 1.

So as I mentioned, there is -- through the evidence and through the IR responses there is a lot of references to the 2021 to 2025 asset management plan.  Is that an accurate observation, panel?

MR. WELLINGTON:  This is Bob Wellington from Enbridge.  That is an accurate observation.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  And so what is the value that Enbridge is suggesting by referencing the 2021 to 2025 asset management plan for this proceeding?  What is the purpose?

MR. WELLINGTON:  This is Bob Wellington again from Enbridge.  It's simply to highlight the fact that the investment in renewal of the compression of the Corunna station has been on Enbridge's radar since the 2021 asset management plan and was developed, and in fact its initial review of investment requirements to support reliability concerns at that plant do precede the 2021 asset management plan, but that is the point at which we had -- we had spent additional efforts to establish the alternatives that might be explored to support that renewal.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And that is my understanding, is the asset management plan takes all of the potential, you know, projects and initiatives that Enbridge, you know, may consider, you know, puts them through some sort of analysis and determines which ones should be brought forward at what time.

So is it fair to say that the 2021 to 2025 asset management plan is your evidence determining the project need and priority in consideration of the broader set of projects that Enbridge is considering?

MR. WELLINGTON:  The need and priority have been supported not only through the efforts in identifying the appropriate investment within the asset management plan but also through the quantitative risk assessment, the asset health review, and the RAM study, all of which are -- form part of the evidence as well.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  And it sounds like there's been a strategic or policy change at Enbridge where now you are suggesting that you replace compressors, and this project is, you know, the example we're focusing on, but you gave some other references that I could take you to if needed for other future projects where you are considering or would like to replace compressors with pipelines.

Is it correct that there's been some sort of a policy change or change in thinking at Enbridge that is now lining up with replacing compressors with pipelines?

MR. WELLINGTON:  I will ask any of my colleagues to weigh in who were part of the alternatives assessment, but the alternatives reviewed for each project are not focused on one specific alternative.  Appropriate consideration is given to all alternatives, based on the value associated with a different alternative, which might include cost-effectiveness and GHG reductions and other considerations.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I am not sure who else on the panel you are referring this to.

MR. CADOTTE:  Mr. Brophy, it is Jeff Cadotte.  I agree with Mr. Wellington's statements there.

I mean, I am not sure of the other investments that you were referring to, but this project was evaluated on a stand-alone basis and compared against all alternatives that we filed in evidence.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And I guess maybe I've got it wrong, that there's been a broader policy change at Enbridge to replace compressors with pipelines, but so then I guess it would be fair to say that it is not -- it's not a policy then at Enbridge to replace compressors with pipelines.  You did it just on this specific individual project basis, is what you are saying?

MR. CADOTTE:  That's correct.  Yes, I am not aware of a policy change.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  Okay.  So as I mentioned, I gave the reference to Mr. Keizer that pointed us to the EB-2020-0181 proceeding where the 2021 to 2025 asset management plan was filed.

And so I did have a chance to go and take a look at that, and can you confirm that the 2021 to 2025 asset management plan has not been reviewed and approved by the OEB yet?

MR. WELLINGTON:  Can you clarify what you mean by reviewed and approved?

MR. BROPHY:  I took your reference in your IR response -- I followed it to the EB-2020-0181 proceeding, and in that proceeding, under Energy Probe 16 IR, it indicates:

"Enbridge Gas is not seeking approval of its asset management plan.  Enbridge Gas has filed the asset management plan in support of its request for ICM funding as per board ICM policy."

So you are indicating that you are not filing it for the review and approval by the OEB in that proceeding.  So when you pointed us to that proceeding for the asset management plan, I guess it was just for information purposes, not to find a spot or an approval from the OEB on that asset management plan version update.  Is that correct?

MR. WELLINGTON:  I would -- sorry, go ahead -- go ahead, Mr. --


MR. BROPHY:  No, go ahead, go ahead.

MR. KEIZER:  I think the point being is that the answer to the interrogatory is clear that it is saying that the project forms part of that asset management plan, and that is where it can be seen.  I don't think that the response to the interrogatory is saying anything other than that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So if the asset management plan wasn't reviewed and approved in that proceeding, are you aware of it being reviewed and approved by the OEB since then?

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure that these witnesses would necessarily know all of the regulatory proceedings that it may or may not have been introduced in.

MR. BROPHY:  Can you undertake to provide -- if it has occurred -- the OEB approval for the 2021-2025 asset management plan, or just confirm that it hasn't been approved by the OEB, if that is the case?

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.  We can indicate the regulatory status of the plan.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.1:  TO PROVIDE THE OEB APPROVAL FOR THE 2021-2025 ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN, OR JUST CONFIRM THAT IT HASN'T BEEN APPROVED BY THE OEB, IF THAT IS THE CASE.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you for that.  And then I think Ms. Wade may be the one to answer this, but I will leave it up to the panel.  So you would be aware in the IRP proceeding that Enbridge committed to include IRP in its future asset management plans?

I think that the 2021-2025 asset management plan was probably in development when that proceeding occurred, you know, a year or more ago.

So can you just confirm that that IRP analysis wasn't added to the 2021-2025 asset management plan, that it will be done in the next iteration?

MS. WADE:  Yes, that's correct, I can confirm that.

MR. BROPHY:  I am just trying to skip through a few of these questions here to stay on time.

I am just double-checking, but I may be done.  Just give me a minute, please.

Just the final question is a follow-up to that.  I get it wasn't in the asset management plan, but I did take a look at the responses in relation to the IRP analysis done, and did see that -- I think it was ICF that had done some analysis there for you.

But I didn't see any analysis of an IRP alternative, which would have been, I guess, the baseline project option, which would be monitor, repair or replace as required the compressors.

So can you just explain, I guess, or confirm that that alternative wasn't part of the IRP analysis in this project?

MR. CADOTTE:  Mr. Brophy, I may ask Ms. Wade to jump in on this one.  But we did review an alternative that considered installing a NPS 30 pipeline.  That alternative came at a capacity loss of 90 TJs a day, and we evaluated a energy transition scenario around that alternative.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Yes, I saw that there was pipeline analysis, and it looked like the base assumption for the IRP analysis that was conducted is that if you lost your compressors or took them out and did nothing there would be an impact to the system that would be, you know, significant.

And then from there it was really just about pipeline options.  It didn't -- it didn't look like, or I couldn't find any reference to an option of monitor, repair and replace as necessary existing compressors on the site.

So I just want to validate that that is accurate, or if I missed it somewhere, where that reference would be.

MR. CADOTTE:  Mr. Brophy, it is Jeff Cadotte again.  I think it really speaks to the magnitude of the amount of capacity we're talking about here.

Mr. Janisse spoke to this on day one, but, you know, the amount of capacity we're replacing we're talking about millions of households.


And so, you know, even replacing, you know, a fraction of the capacity at 90 TJs a day, the cost to, you know, say effectively DSM-away this capacity had a significant cost to it that we provided in evidence and further in SEC 13, where we provide a further summary of our alternatives.

MS. WADE:  Mr. Brophy, it is Cara-Lynne Wade from Enbridge Gas.  I want to confirm your question.  Are you talking about the geo-targeted efficiency, or are you talking about monitoring and replacing compressors?

MR. BROPHY:  It was actually the second.  You know, I'm -- I crossed out the DSM questions because I didn't think we would have enough time this morning for that.  I was just asking to get confirmation that the monitor, repair and replace as necessary option wasn't included in the IRP analysis.  Is that correct?

MR. CADOTTE:  Mr. Brophy, it is Jeff Cadotte.  We considered a repair-and-replace alternative that looked at retiring K 701 through 3 and installing a 20-inch pipeline, and we provided the NPV on that in SEC 13 that showed that it was -- it was not as cost-effective as the proposed project.

And really, you know, bottom line doesn't address the needs that we have identified of K 705 through 708 as well with the reliability issues and concerns that we have.

MR. BROPHY:  So what I am trying to refer to is an option that doesn't use any pipelines, any new pipelines, not the NPS 20 or the NPS 36, but just purely monitor, repair and replace as necessary compressors as an option.

Is there an option like that that was included in the IRP analysis, with no pipelines, incremental pipelines?

MR. CADOTTE:  No.  We didn't address those alternatives, Mr. Brophy, as they don't meet the need of obsolescence, reliability and safety.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So they weren't included in the assessment?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yes, we didn't include them as a feasible alternative.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  I am going to end there and hand it over.  Thank you very much.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Mr. Brophy.  I see next on the list is Schools.  Is that you, Mark?

MR. ZHENG:  I will ask questions first, then I will hand it to Mark.

MR. MILLAR:  Thanks.  Go ahead.
Examination by Mr. Zheng:


MR. ZHENG:  Good morning, panellists.  So other intervenors have spent quite some time last week discussing topics, so I will keep my questions streamlined and probably won't use up the entire hour.

My question is on SEC 1, attachment 1.  And the attachment is your -- if we can go to the next page that would be great.  Thank you.

So on this page of your presentation to Enbridge's Board, it says the project is expected to allocate a hundred percent of capital to the regulated rate base at the existing -- as existing facilities being replaced have been included in the regulated business.

During the presentation, what did you tell your Board, in terms of how much of the existing facilities are used for the regulated business?

MS. THOMPSON:  This is Hilary Thompson.  None of the panelists were present during the board of directors presentation.  However, we stated on day one and also in our evidence that there is a one-to-one replacement based on the capacity provided by the seven compressors.

MR. ZHENG:  So the one-to-one replacement, you're talking about the entire capacity.  But I think this statement on your presentation -- I am assuming the topics involve during the presentation was with regard to the allocation of the facility to regulated business.  Or is this non-regulated business?

I would like to -- if you can undertake to provide that information, that would be great.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, can you repeat the question again?

MR. ZHENG:  The question is what did you tell your board in terms of how much of the existing facilities are used for the regulated business.

MR. KEIZER:  That's the question?

MR. ZHENG:  Yes, because one of the panellists mentioned none of you were actually at the presentation.  So I am asking for an undertaking to provide your information with regard to that question during the presentation.

MR. KEIZER:  What was addressed during the presentation?

MR. ZHENG:  That's right.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. ZHENG:  Sorry, is that accepted, that undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  Yeah, if it was addressed we can provide that undertaking --


MR. ZHENG:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  -- what was said.

MR. ZHENG:  Can we have a reference for that?

MR. MILLAR:  JT2.2. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.2:  TO PROVIDE INFORMATION WITH REGARDS TO WHAT WAS ADDRESSED DURING THE PRESENTATION TO THE EGI BOARD.

MR. ZHENG:  Second question is on SEC 4.  So your response to this IR shows that there is -- the down time is actually trending towards a lower number.

Could you please explain the reason behind it?

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Mike Hildebrand, Enbridge.  When we look at the overall trend, the trend from 2016 to 2021 is actually an increasing trend for total down time.

You will notice a small tail in the time frame between '20 and '21, which I think is what you are referring to, but we certainly see an upward trend in the time frame within this -- within the scope of this graph.

MR. ZHENG:  Well, that's fine.  But like you mentioned, we see a small segment of the downward trend, and you could describe that as a small portion of downward or I could describe that as the beginning of a trend, but I would like you to explain, you know, the contributing factors to this trend.  What is the reason we're seeing that?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, are you asking what the difference is between '20 and '21 and why the number was changed, the differences between the two --


MR. ZHENG:  No.  I am asking what is the technical reason or if there's any reason that contributes to the shift of down time, the trend of total down time.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think there is a trend.  It is a one-year difference.  I think that's where we are.

MR. ZHENG:  I think in -- if we look at -- I think in one of your IRs you provided the total down time.

We also see in that chart there was a downward trend, at least with respect to some of the compressors, total down times of some of the compressors.

So it is not just one year.  If you can bear with me, I can look for the IR I am referring to.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Zheng, it may be -- this is Dwayne Quinn.  It may be Pollution Probe 5 that has the totals for all of the units.

MR. ZHENG:  That's right.  That's right.  Thank you.  Sorry.  For example, if we look at K 703, you see a trend of downward time, a downward trend of down time.

You know, I would just -- I am seeing there is two things happening at the same time.  I wonder if there is a reason for that.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  I think considering the outage time or down time per unit there is a number of factors that can play into that, one being how many hours was it actually asked to run in a given year and in a given injection/withdrawal cycle.

The other thing that can come into play too is, as we -- as various maintenance activities are performed, the purpose of maintenance being to restore function, it is not surprising to see, you know, ups and downs in outage hours over time as those various activities are undertaken.

So back to where you started with SEC 4, in the graph, I think, you know, you can certainly appreciate that if we performed a linear regression on the data in this graph you would clearly see an upward trend.  It is not surprising to see slight ups and downs as various activities are undertaken to restore function as condition -- asset condition degrades over time.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  I think one of the things I picked up in your answer was that there were repairs performed and that could help sort of decrease the trend, the down times, in total, and that makes sense.

So next question is on SEC 9.  So there is a list of repairs that you performed in the past years, and since 2018 there is a list of repairs as well.  As you mentioned, repairs, especially significant repairs, might contribute to the decrease of down time in the future.

And my understanding is that AHR was performed no 2018 and it was updated in 2021, and during the 2021 update, did you include or take into consideration the repairs that occurred from 2018 to 2021 and how that might have affected the potential down times of the compressors?

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Mike Hildebrand, Enbridge again.  So the question was, were the repairs that were done post-'21 considered in the updated AHR in 2021, just to clarify your question.

MR. ZHENG:  Post-2018.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  2018?

MR. ZHENG:  Because AHR was performed in 2018.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Right.  The update in 2021 to the AHR incorporated the update to the run hours for those -- for those particular units to do projections for when we would expect to see the next failure.

If I can just point to Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, table 3 on page 20.  So this table, as you can see, the Storage Asset Health Index, this table is used to provide a health index for each of the different assets by unit and by sub-class, so foundations, crank shafts, and so on, as you can see on the table.

The colouring and various health index scores 1 through 5 give us an indication of when we expect the next failure to occur.

And based on -- we use our updated -- in the 2021 update to the Asset Health Review, and Asset Health Review, the updated run hours between 2018 and 2021 were used to help us make those projections.

So the failures -- the failures and repairs between 2018 and 2021 are not incorporated in the 2018 -- sorry, the 2021 update to the Asset Health Review.

MR. ZHENG:  Sorry, could you please repeat again what is not included?

MR. HILDEBRAND:  So the update -- the 2021 update to the Asset Health Review, which is actually filed at -- I will just give you the reference -- ED 1, attachment 1.  That's the Asset Health Review that was updated in 2021.

The updated run hours for each of the units were incorporated into that analysis.  The failures between 2018 and 2021 or the repairs that were done in that time frame are not part of that update.



MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  My question was more about whether you've taken into consideration of there were significant repairs done to the compressor and whether that has effect on the down times.

So have you taken that into consideration?  Not just including the updated run time, but, you know, whether if you included the fact that some of the compressors are -- have went through repairs, have you considered that asset contributing factor to the forecast of it.  That is a question.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  I would like to request a quick breakout, please.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Zheng, this is Dwayne Quinn.  Just while they're breaking out, the end of this -- before you go to another IR, if you don't mind, I would like to ask a question about table 3 vis-a-vis other information that has been up this morning.

MR. ZHENG:  Sure.  And that shouldn't be a problem for the time -- for sake of time, because I won't use the whole hour for sure.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Are you going to be going to SEC 14?

MR. ZHENG:  No.  But I think you can ask, but I --


MR. QUINN:  I will ask that at the end.  I wanted you to finish the flow of your questions.  And then, Mr. Millar, if at the end of Mr. Zheng's questions, I could ask about SEC 14 and a couple of others.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Are we clear to proceed?

MR. MILLAR:  If the witnesses are back and I can't see -- it looks like everyone is back.  Are you there, Charles?

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.  I think everybody is here.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, please go ahead.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  So we can't answer on the spot here today about any other additional repairs that were considered in the 2021 update to the AHR between 2018 and 2021.

Back to your question, though, I think it is important for us to point out that, you know, it is not surprising to see maintenance activities improving down time as those activities are done.

The upper trend we see in the graph presented at SEC 4 is a clear trend that is really strongly tied back to the increasing age of the fleet, the challenges with maintainability and obsolescence.

If we can just turn up Exhibit B.  Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, and on page 12 there is a footnote right at the bottom of the page that I want to draw our attention to.  We have talked a lot about the challenges with the aging assets, the challenges with maintaining them into the future and the footnote number 11 identifies K 701-703 being an earlier compressor model which has been out of production for forty years; only a very small number of these units remain in operation around the world.

And there is -- so the challenge is, you know, we 
do -- we do take efforts with maintenance to restore function, but there does become a point where we -- it becomes impractical to continue to do that for cost, for the duration of the outages required to perform those maintenance activities, for these assets that are very, very old.

And just for reference, too, we're talking about assets that are you know, fifty -- approaching sixty years in operation.

MR. KEIZER:  Just to clarify, Mr. Zheng, your question.  I think the witness said they weren't able to answer that on the spot today with respect to what repairs were taken into consideration.  So we can, if it will aid you in posing your questions, to be able to undertake to clarify that.

MR. ZHENG:  The undertaking would be Enbridge to provide whether the RAM study in the chart has taken into account the repairs that it has done between 2018 and 2021.  If yes, then what repairs has taken into account, and the conclusion with regard to that.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.3:  TO PROVIDE WHETHER THE RAM STUDY IN THE CHART HAS TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT THE REPAIRS DONE BETWEEN 2018 AND 2021; IF YES, THEN WHAT REPAIRS WERE TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT, AND THE CONCLUSION

MR. ZHENG:  So next question, I want to understand some of the conclusions in your RAM studies a little bit more.

So the RAM study uses likelihood of failures occurring to different parts of the compressor, and then associate that likelihood with the expected time to repair them, and then recalculate the shortfalls of the capacity as a result of that.

Could you please help me understand how -- like how are the likelihood of failures of each compressors are calculated.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Yes.  Mike Hildebrand, Enbridge.

The likelihoods of failure really go back to the asset health review again, which is filed in our evidence, where we have determined, based on historical data, failure data, what the actual failure rates for the various assets and subcomponents are.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thanks.  And how are the sort of the expected repair times estimated? could you please provide a little more on that?

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Sure.  Mike Hildebrand, Enbridge.  Can we go to Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 2, Which is the actual RAM study. 

And specifically on page 28 of 53, so table 4.7B at the bottom of the page has a summary of the estimated down times, repair times, as we call them, for the different types of failures that we expect to see in the assets that we're talking about here.

So these numbers, the modelled time, for example, is developed through -- primarily through discussions with subject-matter experts within the operations and engineering to arrive at reasonable estimates for down times.

And you can see in this case here time ranges between one day up to three to 11 months, depending on the nature of the particular failure.

I will just draw us back as well to a couple of pages earlier, starting at page 25, right at the bottom of page 25, table 4.5, there is actually a more detailed breakdown of -- by asset subsystem, as it is called, in column 1 at the far left, the total down time.

And this forms the basis for the inputs to the model for various repair times to correct various different failures.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  And how much of that relies on historical down times?  What I am trying to get from this question is, your forecast or estimated down time in the future, is it solely tied to how much down time this particular compressor has experienced in the past?  Or there is more other factors to it?  That is what I am trying to understand.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  The down times that are -- the repair times that are -- that form the basis for inputs to the model as kind of outlined in table 4.5 and also at table 4.7B where we started, those are really based on subject-matter expertise, based on what the expectations are for various repairs.

So factoring in what those subject-matter experts know about what is available in inventory, what they know about lead times with vendors, or if, you know, work has to be contracted out.

So history plays into it.  I would say this is based on people's experience -- the subject-matter experts' experience over time to arrive at those estimated repair times.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Next question, so one of your conclusions from the RAM study is that there is 67.29 percent chance injection shortfall will fall into the range of 1 to 5 percent, and then another conclusion is that withdrawal shortfall -- for withdrawal shortfalls there is a 88.52 percent chance that the shortfall will lie in the range of 0.5 to 5 percent.

So my question is, could you please help us to understand this conclusion a little bit more, because half a percent, 0.5 percent, and 5 percent, I think it represents different levels of risk to the system.  And could you please explain how does the probability, the 67 percent or 88 percent, how does that apply to the -- each end of that range?

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Mike Hildebrand.  Mr. Zheng, would you mind just maybe clarifying your question.  Maybe we can go to a specific reference and look at the numbers just to make it a little easier to follow.

MR. ZHENG:  It is in the RAM study.  I think if we go to -- sorry, I don't have the page, but if you go to sort of the end of your Executive Summary, you see that.  It is a conclusion with respect to, you know, the chance of injection shortfalls will happen.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Perhaps table 5.1 on page 30 might be what you are referring to.  You can take a look here and see if that is...

MR. ZHENG:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Mr. Zheng, was it a table you were looking at, or was it a paragraph?

MR. ZHENG:  It is more a text conclusion.  Let me do a search.  So if we go to Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 2, page 32, at the bottom.  Gas injection shortfall.  The first bullet.  The four bullets together.  Not just the first bullet.  Sorry.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  So maybe just -- maybe just to circle back to the question.  Is it just --


MR. ZHENG:  Yes.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  -- to clarify the meaning of these --


MR. ZHENG:  Yes.  So how does probability apply to sort of the different end of the spectrum?

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Sure.  So I will maybe just start with a description -- I think this is important for understanding the answer to this question.  So the RAM study, again, is a technique that is used to make some reasonable estimates for equipment availability and ultimately some kind of shortfall, some production shortfall.  So on injection and withdrawal, the RAM study is able to make an estimate for us of how much shortfall we can reasonably expect.  And in this case, the time frame that was looked at was over the next five years.

So the RAM study takes as its inputs the reliability parameters from the AHR.  So our failure rates.  It takes in the repair times which we just discussed, and it runs a simulation of that five-year time frame, so all 11 compressors, all the many different failure modes those compressors can experience.  And each of those failure modes has associated with it a frequency.  Each of those failure modes also has associated with it a mean time to repair or repair time.

So the RAM study uses a Monte Carlo simulation to basically generate a series of failures and their associated repair times over the five years for each of the units, and it does this 100,000 times.  So it is 100,000 iterations of the simulation, and through that process then it provides a distribution of outcomes, so a probability distribution of outcomes.

If we can just go back to the previous page, page 30.  This table, table 5.1, just up a little bit, yes.  Table 5.1 shows the mean of that distribution of outcomes, as well as a P 5 and a P 95, which is really just talking about the spread of the -- spread of that distribution.

So you can see here the conclusion that is highlighted.  The mean expected shortfall over the course of five years after running the simulation is a 2.26 percent shortfall compared to the expected demand that we have put on the system through the model.

So the -- this is the mean of the distribution.  What the -- I think what your question about the four bullets at the bottom of page 32 was just to provide us with a bit of understanding of how the -- how the probability of exceedance, so the probability that we could see more than this number varies.

So table 5.2 on page 32 shows a range of shortfalls and if you recall back from the previous page, we looked at the mean shortfall was 2.26 percent.

So this table is just to provide an illustration of the range of potential outcomes and probability of exceeding that mean value of 2.26 percent.  The graph is just providing a graphical representation of that.

And then the four bullets at the bottom of the page are really just to provide a couple of observations from the data.

So the gas injection shortfall is forecasted to lie in the range of one to five percent.

And there is a 67.29 percent probability predicted average shortfall will lie in this range, and that just relates to, back to the table -- back to the table and the outcomes from the RAM study in terms of the probability distribution that is produced.

So these are just a number of examples to provide some context around the results.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay, thank you.  My last question is, so has -- have you experienced shortfalls in terms of injection or withdrawal in the past couple of years, actual shortfalls in terms of capacity?

MR. CADOTTE:  Mr. Zheng, it is Jeff Cadotte.  I think we talked about this on day one.  But you know, while we have experienced design temperatures equal to or in the range of our design day, we haven't had a situation where we've had experienced a peak day where we have had to go procure supply based on one of these units being down.

MR. ZHENG:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions and I will pass it to Mark.
Examination by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good morning, panel.  I am Mark Rubenstein.  I am co-counsel for the School Energy Coalition.  Just a couple of questions.

I would just like to first discuss following up on the presentation that you provided on Monday.  I had a chance to review the transcript and I just want to make sure at least I understand when we use some of the terminology -- your use of the terminology that I understand exactly what you are discussing.

So during your presentation, you referred to the storage pools associated with the EGD rate zone.

Am I correct you mean storage pools that were either previously owned, or enhancements made to those previously owned by Enbridge Gas Distribution before the merger?

MR. PARDY:  This is Steve Pardy here, yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There was a lot of discussion last Wednesday about how Enbridge storage is an integrated system, in the context of a discussion about regulated or non-regulated storage.

I just want to make sure I understand what we mean by that.  Do I take it that really when we're talking about storage and how you operate the system, the delineation between regulated and non-regulated is more of an accounting exercise, because operationally you don't have a regulated storage pools that use regulated pipes and you have unregulated storage pools.  Right?

The gas is all mixed up.  It is really just an accounting of determining what is considered regulated and what is unregulated.  Do I have that correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  Can we just request a breakout room?  It may crossover a number and I am also not sure if we have somebody to be able to speak to that.  So a breakout room would be helpful.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]

MR. CADOTTE:  Mr. Rubenstein, this is Jeff Cadotte from Enbridge.  Can you please repeats your question?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, yes.  I am trying to understand when we use the term integrated storage, you know, there was discussion about it is an integrated system.  I want to make sure I understand why you use that term and what it actually means.

I take it, or at least my understanding is the Enbridge storage system, the breakdown between regulated and unregulated is more of an accounting exercise than a physical exercise, because you don't have a -- or maybe you do and you will tell me I am incorrect here -- you don't have a regulated storage pool and an unregulated storage pool -- or you don't operate them like that, maybe is the better way to put it.

Regulated and -- you know, gas is going to a regulated customer or unregulated customer, it is intertwined and both regulated and unregulated gas will flow through all parts of the system.

Is that what you mean when you talk about the integrated system?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yes.  Generally I agree with your statement, yes, that we don't colour code molecules based on pool.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And you don't colour code pools?

MR. CADOTTE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  And so can we go to -- if we can pull up KT1.1, just your presentation, and go to page 4.  Here you provide essentially an overview of the Enbridge integrated storage system.  Do you see that on the page?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yes, we see that.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so you say you have 320 pJs of storage capacity and 6.3 pJs of deliverability on peak day of the integrated system, which includes those that are -- and am I correct this includes those serviced by the Corunna compressor stations and would be by the proposed pipeline.  Correct?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yes.  The facilities in question are a component or a portion of the total storage capacity and deliverability that are presented on this slide here.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Now there was some discussion with Mr. Quinn about numbers, and maybe the better way is to put those aside and I will ask a couple of questions about the number just so I understand.

So the 320 pJs and the -- sorry, the 320 pJs of capacity and the 6.3 pJs of design day deliverability, that is both regulated and unregulated, Enbridge rate zone and Union rate zone storage.  Correct?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Can you provide, by way of undertaking, a breakdown of the 320 pJs of storage capacity and the 6.4 pJs of peak demand deliverability into regulated and unregulated and Enbridge and Union rate zones?

MR. CADOTTE:  I will just ask Mr. Pardy if that is something that we can provide, or if we included that in our evidence at all.

MR. PARDY:  Yes.  This is Steve Pardy here.  So I do believe we have provided that already.  I mean, you mentioned the 320.  so the 320 is the total storage capacity.  199.4 of that is allocated to the regulated customers,  100 on the legacy Union side and 99.4 on the legacy EGD side.  So those numbers have been provided.

So then I believe FRPO 4 -- let me check here, FRPO 4 or FRPO 5 splits out -- so I guess in FRPO 4, there is a table that splits between EGD rate zone and Union rate zone, the total design day deliverability.  That's at table 2 in the answer to that question.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  But in this, I am not seeing split between regulated and unregulated, I just see rate zone.  So maybe it would be easier if you take the undertaking just so we have it all in one clear sort of apples to apples comparison.

MR. PARDY:  Okay.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Is that something you can do?

MR. PARDY:  Yes, we can do that, yes.  I believe the numbers are all there, but we can pull them together.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Just so it is clear what I am asking for so it just so it is clear on the record here, it is for both storage capacity and design day deliverability.  The breakdown between regulated and unregulated and broken down, and then as well broken down by Enbridge and Union, so you would understand for each of those the Enbridge regulated versus unregulated and the Union unregulated and regulated for each of those two different measures.

MR. PARDY:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  It is JT2.4. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.4:  FOR THE 320 PJS OF STORAGE CAPACITY AND THE 6.4 PGS OF PEAK DEMAND DELIVERABILITY, TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN INTO REGULATED AND UNREGULATED, AND ENBRIDGE AND UNION RATE ZONES.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  All right.  Can we turn to SEC 18.  So you were asked in part B of this interrogatory to confirm that the CCS compressor units that EGI plans to retire currently serve both utility and non-utility storage operations, and you confirmed that.

And then in part C we asked, if B is confirmed, please explain how those costs are currently allocated between regulated and non-regulated.  And your response -- I don't think it is consistent to what you had previously told my colleague.  You said that they are previously allocated to Enbridge's regulated operations.

And as I understand the -- and as I understand why that is the case -- and you mentioned this here -- is because those compressor stations were part of EGD's utility business prior to NGEIR.  Do I have that correct?

MR. CADOTTE:  That's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So -- and then in part D we asked about the proposed pipeline, and to confirm that it will serve utility and non-utility assets.  And you confirm, again, and the reason you say this is because of the integrated nature of the system that we're talking about.  Do you see that?  If you go down, you see that.  It's the last paragraph.

MR. CADOTTE:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So in part E we asked, if you can scroll up for a moment, in part E we asked, if D is confirmed, please explain how EGI plans to allocate costs between utility and non-utility operations.  This is for the proposed pipeline.  And your response to part A and E, you essentially said the question of cost allocation associated with this project is not at issue as part of this current proceeding and is more appropriately dealt with as part of the Enbridge Gas forthcoming 2024 rate rebasing proceeding?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yes.  I agree that is what that says.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And I was a bit confused by your response.  And maybe you are reading more into the question than I had intended, so let me put it a different way.

I am not asking about any proposed changes to the cost-allocation methodology you may propose in the context of that rebasing, but based on your current cost-allocation methodology as it relates to storage, and essentially the work that would be on your books until you rebase.

Am I correct you are planning to allocate 100 percent of the proposed pipeline to regulated customers?  To the utility business?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Rubenstein, can I just clarify your question?  Are you contemplating that there is some kind of rate result arising from this process?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I am trying to understand based on the current proposed methodology of allocation how it would be allocated.  And the reason for this, in the context of leave-to-construct proceeding, Mr. Keizer, is you will know, the Board in determining, you know, the -- giving leave-to-construct or considering an application for leave-to-construct and determining, it looks at cost, and as you will know from previous leave-to-construct proceedings, the Board looks at cost of an unregulated asset differently than a regulated asset, because ultimately the regulated asset, those are borne by captive customers.

And so I am just trying to understand, based on the current approved methodology, what is the proportion that would be allocated to regulated versus the non-regulated business.

MR. KEIZER:  So in other words if -- putting aside how this pipeline is used, putting aside even if there is an application before the Board on the leave-to-construct, it is just basically, how do you allocate these costs between utility and non-utility currently?  Because, you know, obviously the pipe is not entering into rate base, it is not part of a rate consideration, it is not part of an ICM.  There is no ICM funding requested.

So you are just basically saying, how does things currently get allocated.  Is that what you are asking?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Based on the -- well, the proposed pipeline, based on current approved methodology, how will it be allocated.  I would note two things.  Regardless of the rebasing, or rate base, it will be allocated, for example, for the purposes of your -- you know, when you have to make a 2023 ESM calculation, but regardless of the, what I would call the rate implication at this time, as you know, the Board looks at cost differently in a leave-to-construct proceeding when costs are allocated, when their shareholders costs, ultimately, and [audio dropout] since those are [audio dropout] you know, the Board, I would say scrutinizes them slightly less, at least slightly less, than for a regulated asset.

And here I am just trying to understand for an asset that uses both, under the current methodology how they would be allocated.

MR. KEIZER:  So I don't think we have a rates person on the panel.  So I think it is probably best that we take that away as an undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  That's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be JT2.5. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.5:  TO ADVISE THE PROPORTION OF PIPELINE COST TO BE ALLOCATED TO REGULATED VERSUS THE NON-REGULATED BUSINESS, BASED ON THE CURRENT METHODOLOGY; TO ADVISE IF THE ANSWER WOULD BE ANY DIFFERENT IF ANY OF THE ALTERNATIVES WERE ULTIMATELY CHOSEN.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And then I guess the second part, and I would ask this by way of undertaking, would your answer be any different if any of the alternatives were ultimately chosen?  Would they have been any different?

MR. KEIZER:  I will add that to the undertaking.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  Can I ask you to go to SEC 2, your response to SEC 2.

So in this interrogatory we had asked you to provide a copy of any internal business case or similar document regarding the proposed project, and you pointed us to attachment 1, which was, I understand, the presentation to the Enbridge Inc. board of directors.  Do I have that right?

MS. THOMPSON:  That's right.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And do I take it then that there is no actual internal, what I would call business case or sort of one formal document that takes into account all the aspects, let's just say at a higher level of specificity and detail, as compared to the presentation?

MS. THOMPSON:  We have a number of documents, including many of which are on the record as part of this proceeding.

The ultimate approval is with the board of directors, given the level of spend.  So the presentation that is filed as part of SEC 1 is the primary project outline that is submitted to the board of directors.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No, I understand there are obviously lots of attachments included in the IR responses.

But is there no document underneath -- one singular document that was prepared by Enbridge Gas Inc. that this presentation essentially summarizes?  That takes into account all of those other attachments, all of those details.  Essentially an internal business case.

MS. THOMPSON:  Can I just have a moment to confirm with the panel?  In other words, a breakout room, please.

MR. KEIZER:  I was just going to ask, could they have a breakout room?

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]

MS. THOMPSON:  Mr. Rubenstein, we don't have a business case.  The board of directors' presentation is really the summarized version of the proposed project that was submitted for approval.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So let me ask you a question about that.  If we can go to the business case.  And we see the risk summary -- I am just using this as an example, on page 6.

MR. KEIZER:  You mean page 6 of the presentation?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.  SEC 1, attachment 1.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I am just using the risk summary as an example here.  The first time essentially that the risks are put on paper or considered at this level is in this document like this, right?  Is that what you are saying?  
For example, I don't see anywhere on this presentation where you talk about the alternatives.  So there was no document internally that puts those alternatives to the senior decision makers in one document, the whole project essentially for the Enbridge Gas senior leadership.

MS. THOMPSON:  We do bring the -- a number of elements of the content together, but the ultimate result is what we file with the board of directors.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I understand it's the ultimate final.  But just so -- one more time, and I apologize if you were clear and I just didn't understand it.

There is no document, there is no singular document, maybe two documents -- I don't want to get wrapped up in the singular document, if there's two of them or something like that -- that brings together all of the components in a decision-making process to construct this more than 200 million dollar project --


MS. THOMPSON:  There --


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- to the Enbridge Gas company, before it goes to the board of directors of the parent.

MS. THOMPSON:  As I mentioned there are a number of documents, but they all streamline together for the purposes of this -- this presentation to the board of directors.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So when you are presenting or -- I don't mean necessarily someone on this panel, but when this is being determined within the Enbridge Gas company that they're going to go forward and recommend this to the board of directors, the senior management, the executive management team for the company, there is no single business case that they're looking at when they make the final go to decide, okay, maybe we should go forward with this project?

MS. THOMPSON:  As I mentioned, there is no distinct and separate business case.

This is the presentation that is ultimately put forward for the final approval, given the level of spends.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And is this different than in any other capital project?  For example, if you don't have to go to your Enbridge -- sorts of at a broader sense, if you don't have to go to the Enbridge -- sorry, Enbridge Inc. board of directors, do you prepare a singular business case for large capital projects?

MS. THOMPSON:  The approval within the organization is based on the level of spend.

So above a certain threshold, that is what would be the trigger to move it forward to the Board.  I am I am not too sure what the dollar value is off the top of my head, but they would follow the same format.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  So presumably, you needed to get -- before you went to the Enbridge board of directors, Enbridge Inc. board of directors you had approval on -- I forget exactly the current structure, but either Enbridge Gas's board of directors or at the very least the executive management team, your -- I forget exactly the title, president or CEO of the leader of the gas distribution business, they're not looking at one single summary of all of the costs, all of the alternatives, all of that?  Correct?  Is that what I understand?

MS. THOMPSON:  Can I please get a breakout?

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]

MR. MILLAR:  Mark, while they're doing that, we will look to take a break in the next five minutes or whatever is convenient in the flow of your questioning.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  There is my last question.  We will see how this goes on, but this is my last area.

MR. MILLAR:  Just to assist people with their timing, we will take a break after Mark.  I know Dwayne has some questions and Staff has some questions as well, but I think we will be able to accommodate that, and then I think that is all we have for panel 1.

MR. MONDROW:  Michael, it is Ian Mondrow.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, and Ian's question.  I apologize, Ian.

MR. MONDROW:  Not to set expectations too high, but I do have a question.

MR. MILLAR:  It is going to be a real doozy, I can hardly wait.  A lot of build-up for this.

[Laughter.]


MR. QUINN:  Out of fair play, I am going to interject on Mr. Mondrow's questions also.

MR. MONDROW:  Question.

MR. QUINN:  Just in that regard, we're still on the air, Michael?

MR. MILLAR:  I am just thinking that now so we probably are.

MR. QUINN:  Sorry.  I will of I am going to be concise in this.  Ms. Thompson agreed to an undertaking from us to provide the report that she signed that went through the alternatives.

That would be one of the reports, Mr. Rubenstein, you might want to reference.  If it is multiple reports, then file the two, three or four, whatever it is.

If you are looking for one singular one, she has already identified she did sign off on the alternative selection from the engineering group, and I trust that would be one of the -- one of the types of reports that would feed into the presentation to the board of directors.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thanks.

MR. QUINN:  Just to add to that, for the record, we had asked for all reports ourselves.  So if Mr. Rubenstein is satisfied, we may not be -- if there are three reports that feed into this, we would ask for all of them.

MS. THOMPSON:  I think what I am wrestling here with is drawing the distinction of the ultimate approval and being that the final submission that was submitted as part of SEC 1.  There is an approval chain that happens in advance of this presentation to the Board.  It is very similar content that goes forward, and that is the content that is presented to the executive team, which is, as I mentioned, very similar to this presentation.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  But I think I guess at the end of the day there is no comprehensive business case in a singular one or, you know, two documents, that sort of thing.  It is -- what I hear you saying, it is an amalgam of many different documents --


MS. THOMPSON:  That come together over time.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- to the presentation.

MS. THOMPSON:  To the proposed project.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And so just so -- as when I read the ultimate presentation to the Enbridge board of directors, you don't present them with any of the alternatives or why you rejected them.  Correct?

MS. THOMPSON:  We go forward with the proposed project with the understanding that the alternatives have been evaluated in advance.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And internally, sort of one step below, so at the Enbridge Gas level, when you said there was a similar presentation, is that the same thing?  Even internally within the company when you go to sort of your final level of approval, to -- I am not sure if that is either the executive, the internal board, or the executive leadership team, they're not looking at a set of alternatives and why, for example, they were rejected?

MS. THOMPSON:  There is a -- again, some similar content.  There is some high-level detail summarizing the results of the alternatives.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, maybe then can you provide the, I guess the one level down approval, the final Enbridge Gas approval, where I am guessing this is in that you are referencing?  Could you provide that?  Maybe that is just the easiest way, and we can finish off there.

MS. THOMPSON:  Yes, we can.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.6. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.6:  TO PROVIDE THE FINAL ENBRIDGE GAS APPROVAL.

MR. MILLAR:  And thank you, Mr. Rubenstein, Mr. Zheng.

We will take our morning break now, and I think we will return with Dwayne -- or with Mr. Quinn, so let's come back at 11:10.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Did we mark that as an exhibit (sic)?

MR. MILLAR:  We did.  It is JT2.6.
--- Recess taken at 10:53 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:10 a.m.

MR MILLAR:  Unless there are any preliminary matters, I propose we turn it over to Dwayne.

MR. KEIZER:  No preliminary matters.

MR. MILLAR:  Dwayne, go ahead.
Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Good morning, witness panel.

Where we left off at the end of our discussions last Wednesday, I asked about a spreadsheet attached to SEC 14, and I forwarded that on to the parties.  Could we have that brought up, please?

MR. MILLAR:  Dwayne, does this need an exhibit number, or is this on the record?

MR. QUINN:  This was filed with the Board as part of the interrogatory responses as a separate attachment.  I thought it was filed that way, Michael, so I am in your hands.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fine.  I don't think we need to mark it, then.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.  Yes.  I'm not sure I can read this myself.

This is on the tab NPS 36.  So this is a discounted cashflow analysis for the respective alternatives, is that a correct summary of what we're looking at?

MR. CADOTTE:  Mr. Quinn, it is Jeff Cadotte.  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Cadotte.  So whoever is the lead on this, if we look at the incremental capital which is the cash outflow almost in the middle of the page, it starts off with 17,000 -- sorry, 17 million, I guess, in terms of proper quantities for 2022.  And then the bulk of it, 90 percent or so, is in 2023 at 176.

So first off, can you help me with why all of the expenses are in 2023 for the purposes of the pipeline installation?

MR. CADOTTE:  I think you can go down below and see the detail.

MR. QUINN:  The detail, that will -- you're saying most of your expenses including all -- when you order your pipe, do you pay for any of that pipe in 2022?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yeah, we would pay for a portion of the pipe depending on what our supply chain team has arranged with the vendor.

MR. QUINN:  And that would be included then in the 2022 incremental capital?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yeah.  We have -- so at the time this was -- this was produced for the purposes of evaluating the alternatives.  There are some additional costs that are moving back from 2023 to 2022.

But, yes, you can see here that the item detail has, you know, the majority of the costs in 2023 related to contractor costs, construction.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  But you did say that -- I don't want to put words in your mouth, but there are additional costs where moving, from what you know now from 2023 to 2022, is that correct?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yes, that's correct.  This cashflow was completed last year, so obviously as the project evolves and things change in terms of, you know, working with vendors and suppliers and all other things related to the project, cashflow changes as well.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I am going to ask for an update for this because I want to ask questions about it, and then to the extent it would be helpful, maybe we can get an update to the spreadsheet by way of undertaking.

But before we do that, I would like then to move to DCF, electric compression, please.

If we focus in that same area that was brought up previously.  Thank you.

So in this case, the incremental -- sorry, I am not seeing the same thing I have on my screen.  Oh, scroll over to 2051.

I am looking at the numbers and I couldn't make sense of it.  You see it is AN.  Can we go back to the same type of view between (I), it starts at J, K, L.  That's the view.  Thank you. Okay.  That is better to understand it.

So if we look at the incremental capital for the electric compression, we have large expenses almost split equally between 2022 and 2023.  Can you explain to me why that would be the case for the electric compression?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yes.  It is really the same for both compression options, is that the longer lead time with compressors in terms of their design and lead time.

MR. QUINN:  I don't understand.  When you say longer lead time, you have lead time with pipe and you said you paid some of it in advance.

Are you saying that the 105, being the capital for the DCF for electric compression is just pre-purchase, pre-delivery costs for the electric compression?

MR. CADOTTE:  Yes.  So when we evaluated this DCF last year, Mr. Quinn, we had 100 million dollars in storage compressors in 2022 and it is my understanding that this is due to the commitment that needs to be made in advance to design and spec out the compressors versus just, you know, buying the steel for the pipeline.

MR. QUINN:  So you pay for close to half of two compressor costs when you order them before they're even built?

MR. CADOTTE:  I would have to -- I would have to take that away to confirm that.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I would like you to take that away.  In respect of an undertaking, I don't want to slam too much into it, but if this could be updated with where you're at now, what you know because those compressors, again to the extent the Board were to approve this even in a month, you know what you know at this point.  Would these costs still arise in 2022 or would they be 2023 costs?  Is that something -- sorry, I am asking for what you just said you're going to check on, and then you can update the DCF models accordingly.  Can you take that as an undertaking?

MR. CADOTTE:  We could do that.  I will caveat it.  It's not going to materially change the NPV on any of the alternatives.

MR. QUINN:  I would like to have a baseline, sir, and of course the Board would like to know what it is approving in terms of your best estimate of expenses.

So to the extent it there is an update, that would be helpful.  So if we could have an undertaking number, if accepted?

MR. MILLAR:  It is JT2.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.7:  WITH REFERENCE TO TAB NPS 36, THE DISCOUNTED CASH FLOW ANALYSIS FOR THE RESPECTIVE ALTERNATIVES, TO PROVIDE UPDATED AMOUNTS FOR 2022 AND 2023 COSTS 


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Now the further -- and I separated this out intentionally because the next run of the model is to keep all things equal based on your new baseline, what we would like to do is have one compressor added to this model in 2022 or 2023 based upon your need to pay for one compressor in -- to get the project completed by your November 2023 proposed start date.

MR. CADOTTE:  Mr. Quinn, one compressor won't replace the amount of horsepower we need as part of the proposed project.

MR. QUINN:  Well, I know that is your position and we're looking for the data, because I will come to why we're asking for that in a moment, if that need to be done to be helpful.  But we are just asking for that data and we would have it on the record then we rerun your model and it is not the same because we don't have your updated model because that is coming by way of undertaking.

So I would prefer that Enbridge undertakes the scenario where one electric compressor is put in to be in-service from November 1st, 2023.

MR. KEIZER:  But I think maybe you should -- I mean, the evidence is that it doesn't have sufficient horsepower.  So I'm not sure why the alternative is a reasonable one to actually pursue.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, let's put a placeholder on that.  Then I have to ask a few more questions, Mr. Millar.  That is why I was concerned that I was uncertain on the amount of time, but...

I am not sure the best way to do this, but if we have the KT1.3 exhibit that was put up last Wednesday, please.

MR. KEIZER:  Can you just remind me what that exhibit was, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  It was the same delivery of pressures and flows that was proposed by Enbridge -- thank you, with the addition of totals.  That is all that was done to this spreadsheet in the yellow row that is "total CCS-Dawn" where you have added totals.

So looking at the far right-hand side, with one compressor, you have clearly a reduction in CCS flow to Dawn from 2733 to 2366.  And the output from the Dawn-Parkway, so this was the outlet of Dawn, is still 7318.

Now, we asked about that, and the transcript reference is page 89.  We asked about that, and we understood that, while the reduction in flow would be realized at the inlet to Dawn from Corunna, the outlet would have capability to generate the needs for the Dawn-Parkway system of 7318.

So we would like to have an assessment of what that cost may be if only one compressor were to be used.

MR. PARDY:  This is Steve Pardy here.  Just to clarify, so in the instance that you showed here, the model shows that there is no impact to what's going out Dawn-Parkway if we replace the shortfall with another supply.

And maybe Mr. Janisse can speak further to that.  But -- so there is a shortfall in this scenario.  So if the gas is not coming from storage it has got to come from somewhere else, and that is why there is no impact on Dawn-Parkway, because our assumption is it is coming from somewhere else.

MR. QUINN:  Well, is this not a model run, Mr. Pardy, that says 7318 is still available from Dawn for the 2366 input?

MR. PARDY:  Yes.  As I stated in my answer previously, the output to Dawn stays the same, because our assumption in the model is that the supply arriving at Dawn is greater, right?  So if I am short 300 from storage, then 300 of supply has to show up.

So there is an associated cost with that incremental supply that makes up for the loss of storage.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So what I want to do is break that down just a little bit, because you have incremental compression remaining at Dawn, correct?  Staff 1 is the reference.  You provided that there is over 4,000 horsepower of -- horsepower allocated to storage and I believe over 10,000 allocated to transport.

MR. PARDY:  But this is not a facilities question.  This is a "where is the gas coming from" question.  So --


MR. QUINN:  Well, let me ask you this way then, Mr. Pardy.  Can you make it a facilities question --


MR. PARDY:  It's not.

MR. QUINN:  -- the remaining horsepower.  Rerun your model, because that is what my presumption was, is you are rerunning your model to see what will work, and if 2366 is the input to Dawn, rerun your model, so using all -- not just storage, but both storage and transmission horsepower, if you are able to get 7318 out of Dawn.  That is what I'm --


MR. PARDY:  I guess my question would be, where -- if there's 300 -- I mean, I'm using a rough number here.  If there is 300 not coming out of storage, where are those molecules coming from?

MR. QUINN:  Not coming out of storage at Corunna.  But it could be coming out of storage at Dawn using the incremental horsepower that you have at Dawn.

MR. PARDY:  But the -- all the molecules coming out of the Dawn storage pools are -- were already maxed out.  These molecules have to come from somewhere else, and maybe Mr. Janisse can speak to that.

MR. QUINN:  No, no, Mr. Pardy, I want to stay with you, because I think you have the technical knowledge here.

I would like the model rerun and just flat-out use all your horsepower at Dawn with 2366 going in, and to see if you can physically send the gas that is required, the 7318, down the Dawn-Parkway system, using and allowing the molecules that are available at Dawn to supplement as necessary.  And if there is any shortfall, then what would be the cost associated with that shortfall.

MR. PARDY:  So the model shows that there is a shortfall.  It shows there is a 300 million --


MR. QUINN:  Well, sir, I am talking about the outlet of Dawn.  There is no shortfall from the outlet at Dawn.  It is 7318 across the Board.

MR. PARDY:  There is no shortfall in the outlet at Dawn, because I've increased the supply coming into Dawn, because it has to come from somewhere.  Those molecules don't magically appear.  Like, they have to come from another source.  So that's --


MR. QUINN:  And -- and --


MR. PARDY:  -- why the model -- that's why the model shows that there is no shortfall going out Dawn, because we've assumed that there is supply replacing what is lost coming from storage.

MR. QUINN:  So this is where we had this [audio dropout] we asked you to do versus what you have done.  And I appreciate that is a lack -- insufficient communication.

We assume -- and I looked at this as this is what your facilities will do.  You are saying, we assume that we're putting in extra supply.  There was no caveat.  There was no footnote to that extent.

So we are going to ask that if you rerun it, but don't assume additional supply initially, run the remaining horsepower that you have at Dawn to generate additional, pull from storage in the former Union Gas legacy storage, but I understand it is all integrated, so pull from storage, given design conditions, and see if you can reach the 7318.

If there is a discernible determined shortfall, tell us what that number is, and you can apply a cost for what that supply might be given a historic price at Dawn.  Put it at 20 dollars a GJ if you want, but then it will inform the Board as to what the integrated storage network may be able to provide in solutions to what Enbridge is proposing as a need to replace seven compressors.

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure that we can -- that Enbridge can actually provide that undertaking, because I am not sure that -- based on what Mr. Pardy said that it is even possible to do, given the fact --


MR. QUINN:  That's what we have to find out.

MR. KEIZER:  No, let me finish my comment.  That it is possible to do, given the fact that that other storage at Dawn is already taken -- taken up and dealt with.

So we can't -- you know, we have to look at reality, and if that storage isn't available it is not available.  We can't just create scenarios that don't reflect the reality and the actual dynamics of what is actually happening.

So I guess I look to Mr. Pardy of whether that is even possible to do, given the current status of storage with respect to Dawn and the use of that other storage.

MR. QUINN:  My question for Mr. Pardy is, does he know with certainty there is not one molecule of extra gas that can come from storage to supplement what is the shortfall from Corunna to Dawn.

MR. KEIZER:  I think he has already given the answer.  It is on the record.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, I don't hear him saying the answer.  If it is off the top of his head, then it is.

MR. PARDY:  Yeah, the model is set up that the facilities at Dawn are maxed out on design day to provide flow to the legacy -- I would say legacy Union rate zone.

MR. QUINN:  And if you go to Staff 1 -- maybe we should Staff 1, because this has served its purpose for now.  Go to Staff 1, please.  It is the table, I think, on the second page of the IR response.

So in this design day there is remaining horsepower at Dawn that our premise is could be used to supplement -- I say "could" -- be used to supplement some of or all of the shortfall that is coming from Corunna to Dawn.

You have capabilities at Dawn that are different from Corunna.  And so with this additional horsepower, the surplus horsepower, we would like to say, don't put a constraint on what can come from Dawn.  Let Dawn run free, and pull the storage, put your constraint at 2366 coming in if you want, that's fine, and then see what Dawn can do in terms of an outlet to the Dawn-Parkway system.

MR. PARDY:  Yes.  So when the model runs on design day, it -- essentially, it doesn't need that 4200 horsepower to meet the flow.

So we're not restricting -- we're not asking the model to not use that horsepower.  If the gas that's being taken from storage -- this is the amount of horsepower that is needed, the 105,800 horsepower.

So the model -- I can't make the model use it if it doesn't need it.  And it is already maxed -- like, the purpose of the model is to maximize the amount of gas coming from storage.  So what the model is saying is, I can't use that horsepower to increase the flow.  If it could, it would.

MR. QUINN:  If you have established 7318 as the maximum outlet from Dawn, you've put a constraint on the model that does not necessarily allow gas from storage to be fully utilized.  So that is what we're asking you to do.  Take 2366 at 700 pounds inlet through Dawn and allow the constraint to be removed from the Dawn-Parkway outlet to see what the maximum amount of gas that can be generated at the outlet of Dawn using all available compression.

MR. KEIZER:  I think he has already answered the question, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer --


MR. KEIZER:  I am telling you right now he has answered the question and that is where it stands.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, I know he hasn't answered.  You say you think he has.  I say I know he hasn't because I am asking a different constraint on a simulation.

MR. KEIZER:  He has answered the question that says that storage is not available for use, even though horsepower may be available for use.

Is that correct, Mr. Pardy, that is what you have effectively said?

MR. PARDY:  That's correct.

MR. QUINN:  I would like a run of 2366 coming in, 700 pounds and no constraint on the outlet of the system.

MR. PARDY:  No.

MR. QUINN:  If you run that model and get the exact same results, put it in the undertaking.  But I would like to be prepared in the event this goes to hearing that folks will be able to testify to the fact that this is the limit of all of their Dawn integrated storage system.

MR. KEIZER:  And the answer to the undertaking is the answer that Mr. Pardy has already given, so that is all we are going to be giving.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Pardy, I asked the question before.  Do you know with certainty that if you remove the constraint on the outlet of the system and let the horsepower do to maximize the amount out of Dawn, do you know with certainty that not one extra molecule can be pulled from storage to assist with the shortfall in that scenario?

MR. PARDY:  Sorry.  Before we were talking about gas coming into the system, and now you are talking about the outlet of the system.  I am confused as to what you are asking here now.

MR. QUINN:  Think of Dawn as the system.  And so you brought 2366 from Corunna to Dawn at 700 pounds.

So now it is the inlet -- you have constrained the inlet to that supply number.

Take the outlet constraint off of 7318 of Dawn, run the model with all horsepower available, and tell us how much capacity you can get at the outlet of Dawn.

MR. PARDY:  There will not be any increase in that scenario of the gas coming from the legacy Union or the Dawn storage pools?

MR. QUINN:  No.  I'm saying there can be.

MR. PARDY:  This will be the -- the model that run this scenario and this is the shortfall.  The shortfall is 300 million.  That shortfall would translate -- if I don't replace the supply, that shortfall will translate to an equivalent reduction in the Dawn-Parkway flow.

So if you take the 2377(sic), minus 2366, and I don't replace the supply, then that difference is what the Dawn-Parkway number will decrease by.

MR. QUINN:  But you started this by saying you set the outlet at 7318.  I am not saying set the outlet.  I am saying let the outlet float such that you can see what the system is capable of doing with all of the horsepower engaged.

Because right now, the horsepower isn't completely engaged, which tells an engineer that you have more capability to compress out of Dawn than is needed in the scenario that you have developed.

So I am asking you to present an alternative scenario that limits the supply from Corunna because there is only one compressor there, and rerun your model letting the outlet from Dawn float, figure out if there is a shortfall, what that shortfall is, and then you can cost it if you want to present that -- no, I would ask you present that to the Board.

MR. KEIZER:  And the answer is no, because he has answered the question and he has dealt with it.

MR. QUINN:  No, no.

MR. KEIZER:  That's it, Mr. Quinn.  We are finished with this now, Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Mr. Keizer, I am asking Mr. Pardy, in the model runs you are doing, are you establishing 7318 as the outlet of Dawn as a set parameter?

MR. PARDY:  Yes.  That's from the -- when transmission groups run their Dawn-Parkway model, they tell me that that's the volume that must come from Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Excellent.

MR. PARDY:  And so that is the volume that has to come from Dawn.  So if there is an element that is not coming from storage, that will translate to a direct shortfall.

MR. QUINN:  And we have limited the storage, the amount that comes from storage from Corunna, but you have excess horsepower, which means that if you took the deficit coming from Corunna, it wouldn't just translate through Dawn.

MR. PARDY:  It would, it would -- it would do that.  It will do that.  I mean, there is no question of that.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, if you allow additional storage horsepower to pull on storage resources that you have available on February 28th, you're telling me that not one extra molecule can come from storage?

MR. PARDY:  No.  We are maximizing -- with all of the compression that we have available we're maximizing the amount of gas that comes from storage.

MR. QUINN:  Tell me why is there surplus horsepower available in this table.

MR. PARDY:  Because throwing more horsepower doesn't increase the flow.  If I put another large amount of horsepower, it's not going to translate to more gas out of those storage pools.

MR. QUINN:  Because --


MR. PARDY:  The restriction -- the restriction is those storage pools.

MR. QUINN:  But what is the deliverability...


MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Quinn, this is now cross-examination.  I have given you lots of latitude here.  You have done all kinds of questions on this thing.  The witness has given you the consistent and same answer every time.  Even your last molecule, single molecule question, he has now answered.

So I don't think that anything is coming from this, other than simply the repetition of the same evidence to the same questions.

MR. QUINN:  Sir, we missed each other a number of times in this discussion.  I am trying to avoid going to a hearing to have to do this under cross-examination.

So I am trying to give the witness an opportunity to say we're changing the scenario, rerun it and show us the result, and you are refusing to do that.  So the Board isn't fully informed about what these options are.

MR. KEIZER:  My position is the Board is fully informed because the witness has said it is not possible to do that scenario, recognizing the limitations of the storage pools at Dawn.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then I would ask him to identify in that scenario, what is the constraint.  What is it that -- what asset or class of assets is the constraint that limits the ability to increase the amount of capability of Dawn to pull on Dawn-related storage assets to supplement a shortfall coming from Corunna.

MR. KEIZER:  So that is a new undertaking.  So do you want clarification as to what the restriction is that would not allow that to happen.  Is that correct?

MR. QUINN:  When they run the model, what is the reason --


MR. KEIZER:  No, no, we're not running the model, we're not running the scenario.

MR. QUINN:  Well, he has to be able to have evidence to support his contention.

MR. KEIZER:  His contention is he understands -- he has given his evidence based on his expertise on how the storage works as to what the limitations are.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Take the undertaking and then tell us what --


MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. QUINN:  -- how the company came up with that conclusion.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, the undertaking -- the fact that that scenario cannot happen and the reasons why?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.  What is the constraint.  What asset class is the constraint, and how was that constraint determined.  In our discussions on last Wednesday, the group said, yeah, they can go through multiple scenarios throughout the year, and the model will tell them that.

But when they establish design conditions, they set some parameters.  We're asking for some parameters to float as opposed to being cast in stone, which doesn't allow us to see what is physically possible, not what the company is proposing.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, let me just have a moment.

Well, subject to Mr. Pardy's confirmation, I think what we can do or suggest is that we would undertake to advise why the scenario you are suggesting cannot be done, so for the purposes of it being on the record, and what the constraint is with respect to why that cannot be done.

MR. QUINN:  Can you help me just add by how was that determined?

MR. KEIZER:  And how is the constraint determined?

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Or how was it understood to be the effect, yes, I think so, subject to Mr. Pardy's confirmation.

MR. PARDY:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be JT2.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.8:  TO ADVISE WHY MR. QUINN'S SCENARIO CANNOT BE DONE, INCLUDING DESCRIBING THE CONSTRAINT, AND HOW THAT CONSTRAINT WAS DETERMINED.


MR. QUINN:  I am going to just have one more and then cut out my third one.  So last Wednesday we talked about deliverability from Corunna to Dawn at 1.9 pJs per day, and Enbridge offered that NGEIR had capped the deliverability along with the storage space.

I asked for a reference, and at the end of the day, as we discussed things off the record, I had indicated that I could not find it, and I was asking Enbridge to bring it today so that [audio dropout] I had answers to questions I was asking.  So it was Mr. Janisse's...

MR. JANISSE:  Hi, Mr. Quinn.  It is Mr. Janisse.  Yeah, we did undertake to provide that and we will do so.  But in working in that undertaking over the weekend, I can give you direction of where to find those references.

So within its decisions and reasons within the NGEIR proceeding, which is EB-2005-0551, at pages 50 and 51, the OEB concludes that utilities -- shareholders are expected to bear the risks of future development that is incremental to the amounts that were developed at that time, and that those amounts will be used to serve the requirements of Ontario utility customers.

Further, if you go to page 11 of the OEB's decision with reasons, Enbridge Gas's Tecumseh's storage facility is identified as having peak deliverability of 1.8 DCF per day and total space of approximately 92 BCF, and these volumes convert to peak deliverability of 1.9 pJs in total space of 99.4, using a heat content conversion factor of 38.42 MJ per m3, and that heat content factor was used at the time of the company's MAADs application, is where we got that.

MR. QUINN:  So if I am understanding -- first, thank you for the answer, Mr. Janisse -- you are taking the interpretation on page 50 to 51 to say Enbridge shareholders would be responsible for anything above that.  So therefore by, I don't know, extension, capping, the regulated capabilities of Corunna to provide 1.9 pJs per day?

MR. JANISSE:  What I am saying is the capability of the Tecumseh storage facility at the time of NGEIR was 1.9 pJs per day, and any capability that is above and beyond that after NGEIR was developed by the unregulated market.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I think this comes down to an interpretative issue, but I thank you for the answer in advance and the answer before you delivered the undertaking.

Those are my questions, Mr. Millar, with apologies to you in terms of the timing, but thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.

Mr. Mondrow, you had a question?
Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

MR. MONDROW:  Thank you for remembering, Mr. Millar.  I appreciate that.

I actually have two questions now because of this morning, both very short, though.

Let me ask you first the question that arose from, I think it was Mr. Zheng's questioning this morning, and it may be you, Mr. Hildebrand.

You said that the 2019 -- I think you said the 2019 to 2021 repairs to these compressors in issue were not factored into the 2021 asset health index.  And I am trying to understand that.

Do you mean that the down time associated with those repairs was not included in the data to derive the likelihood of outages going forward?  Is that what you meant?  Or is that how I should interpret your statement?

MR. HILDEBRAND:  I think we took an undertaking to address the question.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.  JT2.3.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  So if you want to answer it in the course of that undertaking, that's fine.  I am just trying to understand how -- I am just trying to understand what you meant, because I would have thought if you repair something it should decrease future outages, but maybe you were referring to the data set.  So if you want to deal with it in the context of the undertaking, that's fine.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  I think we would prefer to, just to be clear on getting the correct -- fully correct answer to that.

MR. MONDROW:  Yeah.  Yeah.  No problem, thank you.

MR. HILDEBRAND:  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  So here was my question.  And I have been trying to determine which customers geographically this project impacts, and so we asked an interrogatory.  It is IGUA's first interrogatory, Exhibit I.IGUA.1.  And I am looking at the answers to B -- Parts B and C.  Thanks for putting that on the screen.

So the answer is:

"There is no relation between the current operation of the compressors proposed for replacement and the Sarnia Industrial Line, as the CCS does not supply the Sarnia Industrial Line."

And I am having trouble reconciling that with another piece of evidence, and that is Exhibit B, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 1, page 3.  So these are the letters of support, and page 3 of attachment 1 is the Sarnia Lambton Economic Partnership header.

And if I look at the third paragraph in that letter, Mr. Thompson, who is the CEO of the Sarnia Lambton Economic Partnership, writes:

"Maintaining the reliability to meet demand in Sarnia Lambton's heavy industrial sector, including the Province of Ontario's only petrochemical and refining complex, is key to the economic growth of the region."

And I had thought that that petrochemical and refining complex served off the Sarnia industrial line.  Now, that may be the problem.  I may be mistaken in that.

Can someone help me with that?

MR. PARDY:  So this is Mr. Pardy here.  So I can confirm that that -- those facilities are served off the Sarnia industrial system, and the Sarnia industrial system is a legacy Union Gas system.  And so those are served that -- Sarnia industrial system is served with legacy Union Gas assets, and that there is no facilities at CCS to serve Sarnia.

MR. MONDROW:  So this letter from Sarnia Lambton Economic Partnership which seems to assume that the project will help maintain reliability of the Sarnia industrial line, they're just mistaken about that?

MR. PARDY:  Yes.  I can't confirm what -- the content of this letter.  I can tell you how the system is served with the legacy Union Gas assets.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So the interrogatory response is correct.  There is no impact on the Sarnia industrial line arising from the CCS or the project to improve the reliability of the CCS?

MR. PARDY:  Correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So there's been some previous discussion, I think, about the impact of the project on reliability in the EGD rate zone.  And I had been assuming that because the CCS is part of the integrated storage system and there is an explanation about the interaction, lots of explanation about the interaction between the CCS and Dawn, that the reliability-enhancing benefits of this project would actually help all Enbridge Gas Inc. customers rather than specific Enbridge Gas Inc. customers geographically.

But I may be wrong in that.  So -- and I couldn't find it.  I apologize if it is in one of the IRs.  I still can't see any explanation of what geographic area this project benefits.

Is there a specific area of the Enbridge system that this system benefits?  Is it the legacy EGD rate zone, for example, or is it the entire customer base?  Mr. Pardy, could you clarify that?

MR. PARDY:  So maybe I will rephrase the answer to my previous question too.  So you are right.  So when I look at the CCS assets, they do feed into Dawn, and most of our services -- our services that we sell or provide to our customers really rely on the overall reliability of Dawn.

So to the extent that these facilities are connected and there's an improvement in reliability, I guess there is an indirect benefit to the Sarnia industrial system.

So I still stand by the question that CCS is not directly serving Dawn, but I guess all of the facilities at Dawn, including CCS, backstop the -- our ability to serve our customers.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Sorry, Mr. Pardy, you just said CCS is not directly serving Dawn.  It is directly serving Dawn.  It --


MR. PARDY:  Right.

MR. MONDROW:  -- is not directly serving the Sarnia industrial line, I think is what you meant.

MR. PARDY:  That's correct.  Thank you for that clarification.

MR. MONDROW:  No problem.  So I am correct that this project helps -- will support your entire -- the reliability of your entire system, all of your customers?  Is that a fair conclusion?

MR. PARDY:  I believe it is.  Maybe Mr. Janisse can comment on that also.

MR. JANISSE:  Yes.  It is Dave Janisse here.  I just want to kind of illustrate some of the indirect benefits that Mr. Pardy was talking to, and it is the facilities and the compression or the deliverability that we're getting from the project is for sole use in the EGD rate zone, and it is part of the cost-based storage facilities that are used in that rate zone.

However, the indirect benefits that could extend to a broader group within Ontario and outside of Ontario is that we're fixing obsolescence and other issues that happen.  So if there were ever an outage or something like that from these compressors, the result of what would have to happen, i.e. my team coming out and purchasing other assets to meet the shortfall, could have impacts on the broader market in and around Dawn because of the integrated nature of it.  And those impacts would be on anyone that is looking to purchase gas or compete with us for those services that we're going out to try to back stop the shortfall.

MR. MONDROW:  So, Mr. Janisse, you say that this project benefits -- the direct benefit is the EGD legacy rate zone.  Is that because the CCS provides deliverability from EGD allocated storage facilities?

MR. JANISSE:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  I see.  Okay.  And sorry, just one more question here.  Back to the Sarnia Lambton letter, did Enbridge approach the Sarnia Lambton Economic Partnership and request a letter of support?  Is that where the letter came from?

MR. KEIZER:  I think we have to clarify that by way of undertaking, Mr. Mondrow.  I don't know if in anyone on this panel knows, but we can take it as an undertaking to clarify.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I appreciate that.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.9:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER ENBRIDGE REQUESTED A LETTER OF SUPPORT FROM THE SARNIA LAMBTON ECONOMIC PARTNERSHIP


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer, and thank you folks very much.  That is it.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Mr. Mondrow.  I would love to get -- I think Staff probably only has ten, or less than fifteen minutes, in any event.  I would like to get that in before lunch if we could.

Mr. Murray, are you there?

MR. MURRAY:  I am.

MR. MILLAR:  Are you ready to proceed?

MR. MURRAY:  I am.

MR. MILLAR:  If you end up going much longer than ten minutes, let me know and we will call it for lunch.
Examination by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  Let's see how it goes.  Good day, everyone.  I am Ritchie Murray OEB Staff.  I've got one question that follows from Staff 1 regarding surplus compression at Dawn.  I know we already talked about this this morning, but it is still unclear to me.

In Staff 1, Enbridge Gas explains why there is surplus capacity at Dawn and it quantifies the amount of the surplus. There is about 4,000 horsepower of storage compression, there is about 12,000 horsepower of surplus transmission compression.

And so that is about 16,000 horsepower of surplus compression at Dawn in total.

In the evidence at Exhibit C1, 1, page 2, page 5, Enbridge states that to support its assessment of alternatives, Enbridge Gas completed hydraulic modelling of 22 and a half thousand horsepower reduction in compression at the Corunna station, which is the impact of retiring the seven different compressors.

And so my question is, if Dawn only has 16,000 horsepower of surplus compression, how can it replace the 22.5,000 horsepower of compression that is currently provided by the seven compressors?

MR. PARDY:  This is Mr. Pardy again.  I will say Dawn can't replace the loss of that 22,000 horsepower, and what happens is by building the pipeline, we change the pressure drop.  So on design day, the reduction in pressure drop and the reduction in the amount of compression we have at CCS basically provides the same -- the same flow at the same pressure at Dawn.

So there is no incremental facilities utilized or required at Dawn to meet that design day.

In other days throughout the winter, throughout the injection season, there are times when there's additional compression available that Dawn is not utilizing and that is what we will use to help fill and empty the CCS storage pools utilizing compression from Dawn to do that.

But losing the 22,000 horsepower, we have to replace that with either pipe or compression to hold -- to hold the system equal.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  I think that is consistent with what I heard on day one, so thanks for that.

I've got two questions that follow from Staff 2 regarding Enbridge's plans to retire, you know, compressor units elsewhere in its system and replace them with capacity using pipelines.

Enbridge Gas explained that in 2025, it plans to replace an aging compressor at Waubuno station with the pipeline in surplus compression capacity at Dawn.

So one question is, can Enbridge confirm whether, if the Dawn to Corunna project is approved, there will be still be enough remaining surplus capacity at Dawn to retire Waubuno in the future?

MR. PARDY:  Can you ask the question again?

MR. MURRAY:  Can you confirm whether, if the Dawn to Corunna project is approved, will there still be enough compression at Dawn to retire the compressor at the Waubuno station?

MR. PARDY:  I would say the primary benefit of connecting the Waubuno pool to the pipeline that we're talking about really helps on the injection side.

So as we fill -- and the only time the Waubuno compressor is used is on injection. So as we fill the Waubuno pool, right now we can only get like it can -- the pipeline from Dawn to Waubuno is 1,000 pound pipeline and then I believe the pool for maximal operating pressure is around between eleven and 1,200 PSI, so we use that compressor that is at the site to fill the last portion of the pool.

By connecting the pipeline, which is a 1350 pipeline that we're building, we will be able to use compression on the injection side directly from Dawn to fill the Waubuno pool entirely without having to have any on-site compression.

So during the injection season in the summer months, we do have the horsepower at Dawn available to do that after we build the pipeline.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  Let me see.  I have a follow up question from Staff 9 and SEC 18 about regulated and unregulated storage operations, cost allocation, and benefits to unregulated storage operations, that sort of thing.

Enbridge Gas has stated that cost allocation is an issue for the 2024 rebasing proceeding, and Staff agrees that is true.

In evidence, Enbridge Gas stated it will seek to include the full cost of the Dawn to Corunna replacement project into rate base, even though in SEC 18, Enbridge confirmed the project will serve both regulated and unregulated operations.  And in terms of a rationale for that, Enbridge pointed to the NGEIR decision.

My question is, can you give me a sense now of how Enbridge will propose to address gas storage cost allocation 2024 rebasing proceeding?

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure that is a fair question because I don't think anyone on this panel, number one, would necessarily know that.

MR. MURRAY:  Well...maybe we could ask them.  Because I think Enbridge must be thinking about this and it is likely the people on this panel that are thinking about it.  So they may have the answer.  If it is any consolation, I am not looking for anything carved in stone.

I am simply looking for an indication of how Enbridge or where Enbridge may be heading on this issue for rebasing.

MR. KEIZER:  Why is it relevant, though, if you acknowledged it is for rebasing?

MR. MURRAY:  To get a heads-up on what is coming and to try to get a sense of the big picture and how this all fits together.

Maybe at least we could hear whether Enbridge Gas will seek to harmonize the legacy Union and Enbridge approaches to cost allocation at rebasing.

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think this is appropriate for a LTC application.  What you're asking for is really related to that other proceeding, when it actually happens and not this proceeding.

So I just don't see the relevance for this, in terms of getting a precursor as to what may happen in the future, especially if plans or approaches change or whatever else.  And particularly doing it on the record here I think is a bit unfair.

MR. MURRAY:  Fair enough, Mr. Keizer.  I figured it was worth a chance.

One more question for panel 1.  Again, following from Staff 9 and SEC 18 and a series of FRPO interrogatories.

There's been a number of interrogatories and technical conference questions about whether the project is exactly a like-to-like replacement or not and the benefits it might have for unregulated operations.

Would Enbridge Gas agree to some form of future reporting on the effectiveness of this project or the actual capabilities that are created by this project to demonstrate whether the project is, in fact, like for like?  Assuming it is approved, of course.

MR. PARDY:  I think the demonstration of whether it is like for like, I think goes to our design day analysis that we have, and I think we have demonstrated through the design day analysis that by removing the seven compressors and adding a pipe we get an equivalent flow or the same flow at Dawn.

So I think that is kind of the evidence that we would present to demonstrate that it -- and I don't see how that would change or what kind of mechanism I could put in place to come up with kind of what you are suggesting.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  To be honest, I don't know what you would measure or how you would report on it, but I think Enbridge has expertise in, you know, gas storage operations, so you could probably come up with something that could be reviewed by people like FRPO or whatever.  But in any case, we can leave that for now, and Michael, that is the last of my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Mr. Murray.  So --


MR. QUINN:  Mr. Millar --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. QUINN:  -- sorry, I understand we're trying to get to lunch, but Enbridge won't have an opportunity if I don't ask this before lunch.

What Mr. Murray was trying to get to and aided by Mr. Mondrow, Enbridge has accepted an undertaking to look at the -- concerning the scenario I talked about to determine that they cannot pull more gas from storage that would aid the output from Dawn.

My question and concern for your discussion during the break, if you would, is if that constraint is that they have capped the deliverability from Union Gas legacy storage pools to the amount in the NGEIR proceeding, that I would like to have identified, and we can have a discussion about it, because at times you have talked about integrated operations, but then other times you have said, well, this is an allocation between Enbridge and Union.

We are concerned that if you are limiting what could be physically available to customers out of the integrated Dawn and Corunna storage facility, by what the Board said in NGEIR, the Board ought to be understanding that that is what you are doing.  You're using an accounting constraint to limit the operational capability to replace compressors that are at issue in this proceeding.

MR. KEIZER:  So first of all, just to clarify, are you asking for an official element to the undertaking?

MR. QUINN:  I am asking to the undertaking, if what is going to be reported is, this is the limitation of being able to pull more gas from storage because it is the upper end of what was currently in place at the time of the NGEIR proceeding, that is providing a physical limitation that ought not be there if you are running the integrated facility and then you are allocating the costs later on.

So that is my concern, because it stems from Mr. Janisse's answer to me that this is the limit that Enbridge is doing for Corunna.  If it's putting this same limit on deliverability from storage to Dawn, for the purposes of looking at alternatives, to me that should be identified specifically, and that's why I was asking for a model run so we can find out physically what occurs, not being limited by an accounting constraint of deliverability from storage.

MR. MONDROW:  So Mr. Keizer, it is Ian Mondrow for IGUA.  I think in answer to your question, may -- of whether Mr. Quinn is asking for an additional element to the undertaking, I am not sure this is an additional element, but Mr. Pardy, perhaps you could consider just, to the extent that the limit or the reason for the limitation to meet the scenario Mr. Quinn has outlined is reliance on the NGEIR decision, if you could just state that and elaborate on that in the undertaking response.

So if that is the constraint -- I think we just want to know if that is the constraint.  Is that helpful?

MR. KEIZER:  And I think the basis of the undertaking was to identify the constraint.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  So if that is the clarification of the undertaking that you are asking for, it could be part of explaining what was the basis of the storage constraint.

MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I thought it might be, so thank you.

MR. QUINN:  So if you do find it -- thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  If you do find it is the NGEIR deliverability constraint, at that point are you willing to run a physical model to demonstrate what could happen if that constraint were removed?

MR. KEIZER:  No.

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, that is the part we may need to take to hearing, so that is unfortunate.  But I will leave it at that for now.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  We will now take our lunch break, and we will return with panel 2 at one o'clock.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:05 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:00 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, everyone.  We will get started again with panel 2.  I am not aware of any preliminary matters, so, Mr. Keizer would you mind introducing us to your new panel?

MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  In no particular order, this panel is relating to environmental matters, land matters, Indigenous consultation.

Ryan Park, senior advisor, environment.  Cara-Lynne Wade, director, energy transition planning.  Trey Moeller, director, lands and right-of-way.  Catherine Pennington, manager, community and Indigenous engagement.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  And welcome, panel.  And with that I will turn it over to you, Mr. Brophy. 
ENBRIDGE GAS INC. - PANEL 2

Ryan Park
Cara-Lynne Wade
Trey Moeller
Catherine Pennington
Examination by Mr. Brophy:

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning.  My name is Michael Brophy and I am here on behalf of Pollution Probe.  You may have been listening in last week and this morning.  There was a few questions came up that was indicated that this is the right panel.

So I just wanted to start a little bit on some mitigation plans and impacts that were covered in a few IR responses, but probably the longest one was in the CAEPLA-DCLC number 2.  I just want to start high-level at first and then if we need to pull things up, I am happy to do that as well.

So Enbridge references the OEB's environmental guidelines for location construction and operation of the hydrocarbon pipelines.

I am just wondering who on the panel is the person accountable to ensure this application complies with the OEB's environmental guidelines?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge, that would be myself.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  I just want to make sure I have the right folks here.

Okay.  And I don't know if you were listening in last week and this morning, but I assume that you have heard Enbridge is using the term "like-for-like" for the proposed pipeline project, and of course a pipeline is not a compressor.  But I think what Enbridge is really meaning is that the amount of storage capacity it intended to provide was supposed to be like-for-like, not the physical asset.  Does that sound right to you?

MR. PARK:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  So can you explain the difference, from an environmental and socio-economic impact perspective, you know, as required by the OEB environmental guidelines and through the whole EA process and the environmental report between two options.  The first being the building of a proposed 20 kilometre NPS 36 pipeline versus the option of monitoring, maintaining or replacing, if required, compressors at the Corunna station.

Can you describe the difference between those two options?

MR. PARK:  I would not be able to describe the differences between those two options, because the environmental report was written for the pipeline option in exclusivity.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So are you saying that the pipeline option wasn't assessed and compared against the status quo of maintaining compressors?

MR. PARK:  The environmental report in the application was put forward for the preferred option as being a pipeline replacement.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  But the OEB environmental guidelines don't require just the preferred route to be put forward, it requires an assessment of options and a comparison of those options.  Are you aware of that?

MR. PARK:  As far as the routing, there was a route analysis that was completed for the pipeline option.  And that was compared and the preferred route is what has been brought forward.

MR. BROPHY:  So can you confirm there was no assessment of the status quo option of maintaining the compressors versus the proposed pipeline, from an environmental and socio-economic perspective?

MR. PARK:  I can confirm that there was no comparative analysis between what you described as maintaining the status quo and the preferred pipeline option.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  I am just going to the next question.

So you may have heard the panel last week indicate that replacing the compressors with a pipeline would change the way the storage network is operated, and the project requires some other incremental changes.  One example that was indicated was moving the measurement facilities to Tecumseh verses where they currently are at Corunna.  Are you aware of that?

MR. PARK:  I am aware of that, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  And can you confirm that none of those additional elements, such as relocation of the measurement facilities to Tecumseh was included in the environmental assessment?

MR. PARK:  I can confirm that the facilities included in the -- for the pipeline option were included in the environmental assessment.  Ancillary facilities not included in this application were not included in that.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I guess the confusion I am having is, you know, when the company defines what the project is and then allocates the budget, they have included a broader set of elements in that scope and costing than what is included in the environmental assessment and report.

So can you explain why the environmental assessment and report didn't include the full scope of the project?

MR. PARK:  I would like to request a breakout, please.

MR. KEIZER:  Before we break, is it not, though, it is tied to what the leave-to-construct is?  So are you asking what the scope of a leave-to-construct application is?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, we have already gotten confirmation from Enbridge on what the scope of their application is, and it includes moving things like the facilities to Tecumseh.  So that is the scope of the leave-to-construct, the project as defined by Enbridge.

So that is not the question.  That's already been confirmed.

I just want to know why the environmental assessment and report didn't include the full project scope.

MR. KEIZER:  And is it not related to, but not seeking approval for those other ancillary facilities.  So it is not something that would be before the Board.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I think are we going to wait for an answer, or is that a question, Mr. Keizer?

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I will ask Mr. Park to clarify whether that is the case.

MR. BROPHY:  Maybe -- let's see if they come up with an answer.  If they're stuck, then we will work through it.  You still need the breakout room?

[Witness panel confers in breakout room.]

MR. BROPHY:  Maybe they're in the breakout room already.

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  I can confirm that that I would agree with the statement from Mr. Keizer, that facilities that are not included in the LTC were not included in the environmental assessment annual report.

MR. BROPHY:  So you are saying that the cost and impacts of the ancillary facilities, such as moving the measurement facilities, is not in scope for the leave-to-construct?

MR. PARK:  I would only be speaking to the environmental components for the leave-to-construct application.  And the statement from Mr. Keizer, that we wouldn't have included any of those facilities had they not been explicitly looked at in the leave-to-construct application, they would not have been included from an environment perspective.

I can't speak to the cost.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  But isn't the OEB environmental guidelines meant to assess the project put forward by the company in the leave-to-construct proceeding?  Isn't that the purpose of those guidelines? 

MR. KEIZER:  I think that's what he said.  He has put forward the environmental considerations with respect to the project for which we were seeking approval, which is the pipeline.

MR. BROPHY:  But you are also seeking approval of the project as defined by Enbridge, which includes the costs of moving the measurement facilities.  That's part of the leave-to-construct, or am I off?

MR. KEIZER:  No.  We're not here to approve the costs.  We're here to approve the project, of which the consideration of the costs is part of what the Board would consider.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So in this leave-to-construct proceeding, you are not looking for a validation that the costs put forward are reasonable?  Is that correct?

MR. KEIZER:  The Board has to take that into consideration.  First of all, I think this is becoming argument, as opposed to, you know -- but to be clear, I mean, ultimately what has been applied for is the leave to construct a pipeline, and the Board has considered that within the context of, you know, its public interest mandate, and in doing so it is considering the information related to that pipeline.

We are not here to get approval of the costs.  The Board will take that into account and consider the costs, wanting to ensure, for example, that the least-cost option is being constructed based upon the economic analysis that we have already presented.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So maybe just a final question on this to the panel then.

You considered those ancillary facilities, including moving the measurement facilities to Tecumseh ancillary to what you understood needed to be assessed from an environmental and socio-economic perspective.  Is that correct?

MR. PARK:  No.  The ancillary facilities, if they are not directly included in the LTC application, have not been included in the environmental assessment.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  What about the things that have been included in the LTC application, like moving the measurement facilities?  Are they -- they weren't assessed from an environmental and socio-economic perspective?

MR. PARK:  The list of inclusions in the environmental and socio-economic assessment are provided in the environmental report that has been submitted.

MR. BROPHY:  Yes.  And I did read that.  I didn't see anything about the measurement facilities in there.

So is it fair to say that they're not included in the environmental assessment report?

MR. KEIZER:  I think it is fair they're not included in the leave-to-construct application.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. KEIZER:  Therefore, based upon what the witness has already testified, isn't included in the environmental assessment report.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So just because Mr. Keizer isn't a member of the panel, can I just get the panel to confirm that they agree with what he just said?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  I would agree with what Mr. Keizer has stated.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  So I will just move on to the next question.

You may recall there was a commitment last week to provide relevant sections of the construction manual that will be used to mitigate environmental and socio-economic issues.

I thought maybe that would be this panel, but there was an undertaking or commitment to do that, which outlined the mitigation measures that will be used in this specific project.

Are you aware of that, or I guess even if you are not, does that -- do you understand that that was a commitment from Enbridge?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  Yes, I am aware of the undertaking.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  And are you familiar with how to apply mitigation measures from the construction manual to the specific project in order to mitigate environmental impacts?

MR. PARK:  Yes, I am aware of Enbridge's mitigation measures, as well as those presented in the environmental report and their implementation into the construction environment.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And is it fair to say that the construction manual lays out a generic approach that could be used across projects for each issue or topic, you know, such as tile drains, soil compaction, compaction, et cetera, but that the specific project needs to be assessed on the ground, real-time in order to determine the exact appropriate impact mitigation?  Would that be correct?

MR. PARK:  I wouldn't state that it is required to have specific plans at each individual case.  But there are field fit, I guess alterations or increases in protection where necessary in the construction environment.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I think we're on the same page.  It is basically -- I think you are agreeing that you take the construction manual elements and then you apply it to the specific conditions for the project.  Is that correct?

MR. PARK:  As a general statement, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So for this project, if there is a rain event during construction, or wet soils, which could result in degradation of the farmland due to compaction, who in the field would make the decision on whether to halt work and for how long?

MR. PARK:  I believe we have provided the wet soil shutdown procedure as one of our IR responses.  But in the field that decision would rest with the construction super receiving information as well from the environmental inspector or soils inspector that are located on-site, making judgment calls as well.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, great.  And is that done in consultation with the landowner owning the land being impacted?

MR. PARK:  No, it is not.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So I guess, why not?  Why wouldn't you consult with the landowner if it is their land being impacted?

MR. PARK:  I believe the wet soil shut down procedures would be described in the LOU, which would be signed with the landowner, and that is still under negotiation.  And we often do construction procedures on-site without direct oversight or consultation with the landowners.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So the sign-off from the landowner on those procedures you think are specific enough for the company through the site supervisor and the environmental inspector to just, you know, make those calls, it sounds like.

MR. PARK:  The framework will be agreed upon in negotiations.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.

And are you planning or are you going to test for nematodes prior to moving soil between fields for backfill?

MR. PARK:  Well, for starters, we do not plan to move soils between properties as a statement of procedure.  So that would prevent that from happening.  But as far as the SCN testing, or soybean cyst nematode, that testing has already occurred, and we are currently developing soybean cyst nematode management plan where appropriate.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  No, that is great to hear.  Thank you for that.

So I think you already mentioned this in your other answer, but it is typical for large pipelines in this area, particularly cross-country, to have a full-time environmental spinning Toronto on-site for the duration of construction.

Will Enbridge have a full-time environmental inspector on-site for the duration of construction for this project as well?

MR. PARK:  We will, and in addition to that we will have a full-time soils inspector as well.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Great.  And is the environmental inspector going to be an Enbridge employee or a third-party expert?

MR. PARK:  That determination has not been made.  Typically, we would be using a third party or a contract worker, but again, those decisions haven't been made yet.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Well, I think it is obvious they'd have to be maybe for construction, but -- okay.  Next question.

There are several water courses that have been identified to be crossed in this project, including Booth Creek and Black Creek.  Is that correct?

MR. PARK:  That is correct.  Those are two of the water courses that we will be crossing --


MR. BROPHY:  And --


MR. PARK:  -- proposed to, sorry.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I'm sorry?

MR. PARK:  Proposed to cross, yes.

MR. BROPHY:  Proposed to cross, yeah, exactly.  And what method are you going to use to cross the water courses?

MR. PARK:  Currently, the current plan is to use isolated damn-and-pump crossing method for the majority of the water courses, and at one water course feature we are currently planning and designing a trenchless crossing, utilizing horizontal directional drilling.

MR. BROPHY:  I assume it is Black Creek that is the one that has to be directional drilled?

MR. PARK:  No, the water course that we're planning on directional drilling is Bear Creek.

MR. BROPHY:  Oh, Bear Creek.  Okay.  Have you gotten approval to do dam and pump for the water course crossings, or is that still in discussion with the conservation authority?

MR. PARK:  For this specific project, we have not completed our applications as of yet.  But past experience is isolated dam and pump is approvable.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So for any previous project that has crossed Black Creek, have you received approval from the conservation authority to do dam and pump, or has it always been directional drill?

MR. PARK:  I can't comment on the previous projects.  They were constructed in the 1960s and '70s in this area.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So you are not aware of getting approve for dam and pump to cross Black Creek for any projects?

MR. PARK:  I am not aware of the previous procedures that were used for existing features.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Then this area is high potential area for archeological resources, particularly close to existing and historic water courses.

In fact, you may recall from previous Enbridge pipelines constructed in the area have required special approvals for similar project crossings of some of these water courses, including stage 3 or archeological assessment and then negotiations with the local Indigenous representatives in order to extract Aboriginal artifacts and catalogue those for their museum.  Are you aware of that?

MR. PARK:  I am aware of the past projects in this area.  I wouldn't indicate that a stage 3 assessment is something that is a special approval; that is standard practice.

But I would say that the collection of remains and things would be something that doesn't occur often.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  So then you are expecting a stage 3 archeological assessment to be done as part of standard practice near any water courses for this project?  Is that what you are saying?

MR. PARK:  I would leave the determination of whether or not a stage 3 archeological assessment or stage 4 archeological assessment is needed up to the findings of the stage 2 report and the opinion of our contract archeologists.

MR. BROPHY:  What is the status of the archeological assessment?  Is the stage 2 complete, or underway, or where are you at?

MR. PARK:  The stage 2 archeological assessment is underway.  If you look at it from a property perspective, we're approximately 50 percent complete as far as property numbers that have been assessed.

I can't comment on total area, but the works are ongoing and they will be out doing work this week as well.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  Thank you for that.  Oh, so when would you expect it to be complete, the stage 2 assessment?

MR. PARK:  The stage 2 assessments would be -- and any subsequent stages that are required would be completed prior to construction in those areas.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.

MR. PARK:  Largely, I would expect, depending on field preparation and everything else like that, I would expect the majority of the stage 2 assessments to be completed this year.

MR. BROPHY:  By the end of 2022, right?

MR. PARK:  Correct.

MR. BROPHY:  Okay.  I was told last week that this panel would answer project consultation and correspondence questions.  I assume that is still correct, so I will just start with them.

The OEB requires a TSSA review and assessment of any leave-to-construct project as part of the application.  It appears this has not been completed yet.  Is that still correct?

MR. PARK:  This is Ryan Park from Enbridge.  I am unaware of the status of the TSSA review.  That is something that is the lead designing engineer would be leading for the project.

MR. BROPHY:  Sure.  Okay.  So the most recent information we have received -- outside of this technical conference -- is the response to interrogatories from Enbridge.

And Staff 17.  You can pull it up or I will read it.  It indicates in August 2021, Enbridge submitted preliminary project information to the TSSA.  The basis of the information submitted was to make the TSSA aware of the project scope.  It didn't have any information that closed the consultation with TSSA.

So are you aware of anything that resolved and closed that consultation, or is it still outstanding?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Brophy, I can't recall the exchange that you had last week, but I don't recall -- I certainly don't recall it related to the TSSA and the app -- or the status of the TSSA, and that is certainly is something that would be on a construction or engineering basis which would have been something more aligned to panel 1.  I am not sure that this panel necessarily can do that.  But so I don't remember last week it being specific to the TSSA.

So if there are questions that they can't, we may have to deal with an undertaking in order to be able to clarify whatever question you have in regard to the TSSA.

MR. BROPHY:  Fair enough.  It was right at the beginning of day one where I just wanted to make sure I had the right questions by panel, and I did ask for any consultation and correspondence related to the project, which panel that should be.  And I was instructed to bring them to panel 2.  But I totally understand if you have to take an undertaking.

Why don't we just do that.  If you can just provide if you have received endorsement or acceptance of the project by TSSA and provide a copy of that correspondence, that would be great.

MR. KEIZER:  That's fine, thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.10.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.10:  TO CONFIRM WHETHER ENBRIDGE HAS RECEIVED ENDORSEMENT OR ACCEPTANCE OF THE PROJECT BY TSSA, AND TO PROVIDE A COPY OF THAT CORRESPONDENCE


MR. BROPHY:  I am just going through some questions I had crossed off.  I think I am going to end there.  Thank you very much, panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Great.  Thank you very much, Mr. Brophy.  Mr. McGillivray, are you there?

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I am here.  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Jonathan McGillivray, counsel for Three Fires Group.  I would actually like to turn it over to Emily Ferguson and Zack Hamm, who will be asking the questions of this panel.
Examination by Ms. Ferguson:


MS. FERGUSON:  Good afternoon, panel and participants.  I would like to begin by referencing the transcript from the first panel, specifically pages 192 to 194, where the same questions were asked to panel 1 and deferred by legal counsel to today.

The first question is, could Enbridge please define where project-specific engagement begins.  And if the reference to the IRs is helpful, it is CKSP FN 4, response C.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Thanks, Ms. Ferguson.  My name is Katherine Pennington, and I am with Enbridge.  The question is around defining where project specific engagement begins.

So I think probably it's best to go actually to Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 1, in this case page 4 of 173.

And so I am just bringing this up because as it relates to Kettle and Stony Point, this will actually help us to provide some information -- oops, do I have that wrong?  Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 1.

Let me see if I have that exhibit right here.  Give me one second.

It was the original file that was not an interrogatory, but our original documentation.

But you know, regardless, I think that is okay.  I think I can probably carry on here and just speak to it directly.

So the reason why I was bringing forward that reference was that it gives quite an extensive overview of where our project-specific engagement occurred on this particular project, and in this particular project, we started early engagement in January of 2021. 

And so principally for Enbridge, we begin as early as possible to ensure that there is an opportunity to provide information and have information shared with us so that we have the best understanding of the interests associated with the project.

MS. FERGUSON:  I am referencing back to the IRs, because the response to CKSPFN 4C was that Enbridge did not discuss alternatives with Indigenous communities, as the assessment of alternatives was completed prior to the commencement of project-specific engagement.

But for Kettle and Stony Point First Nation the idea that there could be an alternative that was a no-pipeline alternative was never presented, even once -- February of this year that the consultation department had some staffing changes.  But that is -- that definitely would have been of interest.

So I would like to ask whether Enbridge interprets that the principle of free, prior, and informed consent should apply to all stages of its activities, not just at the point of project-specific engagement.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Well, I think it -- let's try this again and let's see if I can get my exhibit numbers right.  If not, I will speak to it again more broadly.

But I think it might be actually helpful to bring forward the language around free, prior, informed consent.  But I will just actually speak to something more broadly.

So I think principally Enbridge attempts to strive to achieve free, prior, and informed consent.  That's the work that we do with communities, is in the spirit of achieving free, prior, and informed consent.

In regards to the question, is if it is applicable to, I believe you said all activities; is that right?

MS. FERGUSON:  All stages of its activities.  So when you are considering alternatives to a project or at the very beginning -- I'm going to this because Kettle and Stony Point for the past at least six months has made it very clear, a willingness to be involved at the early stage of projects and prior to projects being filed with the OEB so that they can have the full participation of being involved in the project planning stages.

And perhaps it would be helpful if I just move on to the next question, about whether Enbridge -- does Enbridge agree that access to an accurate project route map is essential to a First Nations' ability to assess potential impacts on rights and interests?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Enbridge would agree that access to route options and early information in project development is important.

MS. FERGUSON:  Okay.  And during panel 1, Three Fires Group had highlighted that Kettle and Stony Point had yet to receive the requested GIS shape file of the Dawn to Corunna pipeline map, the route.

At the end of the following day, the consultation in-box did receive a GIS shape file.  We're wondering whether you can explain why there was such a delay in getting this information to Kettle and Stony Point.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Certainly.  So on July 19th, we were requested for a specific shape file for the Dawn to Corunna project.  That was July 19th of 2022.  And we did endeavour to produce that as requested, and it was provided on July 28th, 2022.

MS. FERGUSON:  The request was certainly made at least two months prior.  It was not made in July.  I believe that there was a follow-up in July, again, because this OEB hearing was moving toward the later stages and we still hadn't received that.  So we -- any of the environment comments that we submitted directly to Enbridge were not informed by any kind of accurate route map.

We were actually provided the Panhandle route map and told that the Dawn to Corunna route map would be forthcoming, but obviously even to date we haven't had the team be able to look at that shape file and assess the potential impacts.

So I would like to ask on the route whether that shape file that was provided, has the final route been finalized?  Or are there any route alternatives still being considered?

MS. PENNINGTON:  So just -- I guess just before I do answer that question, just for clarity of how we would see things, I do not have any correspondence or documentation suggesting that that request was made prior to July 19th.  That said, we will always endeavour to provide information in a timely fashion, and we look forward to continuing to do so, because that is critical to meaningful two-way engagement.

Multiple opportunities were provided to have input into route and route selection through not only the virtual open house but, as you can see in the extensive Indigenous consultation record and follow-up discussion record as part of the interrogatories, there were opportunities for Indigenous input and continue to be so.

As it relates, I believe that the shape file that was provided did provide the final route map, as has been provided for this proceeding.

MS. FERGUSON:  And my response would be that the open houses are not a place for Indigenous consultation to occur.  And I would be happy to provide records.  I think it is not as important right here of how many times, but I do have records of when we specifically asked for that, including meeting notes for months back on this project.

But has Enbridge finalized the route?  Is the shape file that was provided to Kettle and Stony Point just last week, is that the final route?  Or is there potential for the route to be changed, whether it is landowners or other issues?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Subject to check, that document that was provided is the final route, as it is printed today.

MS. FERGUSON:  Okay.  And would Enbridge alter the route should any First Nations make that request?

MS. PENNINGTON:  At this stage, Enbridge would not look to alter the route, as there has been multiple opportunities to provide input, including not only the virtual open houses, two of them, but also extensive consultation, as is clearly articulated in the Indigenous consultation log.

But we would always be open to input, concerns, considerations, discussions about the route and any concerns that Nations may have accordingly.

MS. FERGUSON:  So Kettle and Stony Point First Nation received the GIS shape file of what is now considered to be the final route late last week.  And if the team was to spend any time taking a close look at that and requested a route alternative, you are confirming that Enbridge would not consider this at this point?

MS. PENNINGTON:  So although Kettle and Stony Point did receive the shape file last week, according to our records under ten days after request, there were multiple maps and options that were provided as part of our Indigenous consultation and correspondence that are all part of the original evidence for these proceedings.

As well, there have been a number of discussions and conversations that have occurred.  Kettle and Stony Point did provide response to the environmental report approximately eight months after they received it.  We received that the beginning of July.  And we also continued to provide information as it has been requested.

So at this time the route as presented is the route that is before the proceedings to the OEB.

MS. FERGUSON:  Can Enbridge reconfirm the commitment to applying TRCC number 92 in relation to the proposed Dawn to Corunna project as was stated during the February 11th meeting with Kettle and Stony Point?

MS. PENNINGTON:  So the TRCC 92 commitment that was referenced during the February 11th meeting was specifically related to economic participation.  But I will say, more broadly, Enbridge -- this includes its projects and operations -- is committed to working towards achieving TRC 92.  So that is very important to us, and we are working in many areas to work towards our responsibility therein.

MS. FERGUSON:  So that is Enbridge's working toward achieving, but you are not prepared today to make a full commitment to implementing TRCC number 92?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Well, let's bring up TRCC 92.

MS. FERGUSON:  That's okay.  I really do need to -- I need to move on.  If you would like to take it as an undertaking to explain Enbridge's position on that, I would be okay with that, but because we're talking environmental and land matters I would like to move on to cumulative effects, if we could.

MS. PENNINGTON:  We will certainly provide a written response as to how it is that we are meeting TRCC 92, you know, certainly things like employment, employment opportunities, meaningful engagement, job training...

MS. FERGUSON:  Would you like to take it as an undertaking so I can move on to the other questions?

MS. PENNINGTON:  We will certainly take that on as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's call that JT2.11.


UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.11:  TO PROVIDE A WRITTEN RESPONSE AS TO HOW ENBRIDGE IS MEETING TRCC 92.


MS. FERGUSON:  Thank you.  So on to cumulative impacts, and it was CKSPFN 2, response B.  Could you please explain why Enbridge does not consider the cumulative impacts of numerous pipelines in a right-of-way, despite Kettle and Stony Point First Nations' concerns about habitat, degradation and fugitive emissions?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park with Enbridge.  The existing pipelines and facilities within the proposed corridor were considered, as in the cumulative effects assessment.

MS. FERGUSON:  At no point in any meeting with Kettle and Stony Point were we made aware of how many pipelines were existing in the right-of-way.

MS. PENNINGTON:  This is Catherine Pennington.  And I believe that as part of the original project initiation and information, that information was provided as part of the project overview.

Additionally, information in the environmental report would have been provided when that was submitted to Kettle and Stony Point, and other nations as well.

MS. FERGUSON:  Would you take it as an undertaking to provide the full record of information that was provided to Kettle and Stony Point First Nation?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Well, the full record is available in these proceedings, and is available here as part of this conversation that we're utilizing today.

MS. FERGUSON:  Does that include -- so I should be able to point to an exhibit or something within the OEB record here that would be project notification to Kettle and Stony Point that would clearly outline how many pipelines were in the right-of-way of this proposed route?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Subject to check, that is my understanding.  And when I have looked at this record and the Indigenous consultation report, both the summary table and the log and the project, our correspondence is all included in this documentation.

As well, there was an update as part of the interrogatory for four months of engagement that was listed as well.

So I believe it is all available within these proceedings.

MS. FERGUSON:  Would you take it as an undertaking, then, to pull those together so that the actual documents, the project notifications, the correspondence, whether it is consultation office or letters to the chief, that that is all pulled together so that the full record is accessible for review?

MS. PENNINGTON:  The full record, I believe, is fully accessible for you, Ms. Ferguson, as part of this documentation.  Again, I would reference the Indigenous consultation report, log and project correspondence.

I am nervous to say my exhibit numbers because I am worried that maybe I have them incorrect; I'd need to check that at the break.

But for example, what I had listed was Exhibit H, tab 1, schedule 1.  And if I am incorrect here, because I am having difficulty with that, then I will find them at the break.

But I believe that is all available to you here as part of this record.  So, no, I will not undertake it, if it is all available here.

MS. FERGUSON:  And if it is not all available here?

MS. PENNINGTON:  If it is not all available here, and the nation is requesting a package of information to prove that there has been information shared with the nation, then, yes.

MS. FERGUSON:  I am looking specific to whether the nation was informed that this would be, at some point along the route, the fifth pipeline in the right-of-way, and the concerns that the nation has about the cumulative impacts and habitat degradation of a widening right-of-way.  So not just a general project notification, but information that would allow the consideration of cumulative impacts early on in the process.

MS. PENNINGTON:  So I am just going to clarify something, because the full record of our project consultation and engagement should be fully available within the documentations of these proceedings.

The environmental report which was provided to the nations, plural, approximately eight months ago, Kettle and Stony Point in the month of July 2022 provided their comments back to us.  So we are reviewing those now.

Project engagement and consultation would provide the opportunity for the nations, plural, to provide input into consideration such as cumulative impact.

So that information was provided, and that record should be here.  So I am reluctant to undertake matters that have already been provided as part of this proceeding.

MS. FERGUSON:  Does Enbridge keep a record of all correspondence sent to a nation?

MS. PENNINGTON:  As it relates to consultation and engagement, records are maintained as they are defined here in the Indigenous consultation report for the log and project correspondence.

MS. FERGUSON:  So there is a log, and the log is indicating if Enbridge reached out and if the nation member or staff member responded.  But I am looking for all of the information that was provided to the nation, all of the -- the actual text of the attachments, or letters, or maps that were provided to the nation for this project.

MS. PENNINGTON:  In this particular project, in these particular proceedings, yes, that information is available.  And it is part of this.  I am sure you have looked at the log, it is here.

MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.  I have looked at the log.  But I am requesting, in one package, that you undertake to pull together all of the information.  If you're saying that Enbridge keeps a record of everything that is sent out to a nation, would you undertake to package together everything that was sent to Kettle and Stony Point to notify them of information and updates on the project?

MS. PENNINGTON:  And what I am sharing with you is that I believe it is all here.

MS. FERGUSON:  And if it is not here?

MS. PENNINGTON:  If that information --


MS. FERGUSON:  Then we don't have the information that we're looking for.

MS. PENNINGTON:  If it is not here, which I doubt given that we have included all of our correspondence on this particular matter here, there we go.  Thank you very much for finding that.

I see that that particular document is up on the screen.  This is the Indigenous Consultation Report.

And then I believe that if we were to continue to scroll down, what we would find is listed under Kettle and Stony Point -- I believe it might be the next attachment.

Forgive me.  At the break, I will figure out the correct documentation numbers to pull up or make reference to, but I believe that it is all available here.

To answer your question, if it is not all available here, then we will undertake to provide that specific to the nation.

MS. FERGUSON:  So should that be recorded here as a specific undertaking for this conference?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I am not prepared to provide that yet, given that I believe that it is available here.

MS. FERGUSON:  And if it is all available here, then an undertaking would simply be extracting the PDF pages of the consultation log.  Correct?

MR. KEIZER:  We will not do that.  We are not here to organize the file for you.

I think that the -- you know, the witness has been clear that the information they feel is here in its entirety.  That is what she has indicated in her evidence.

So to the extent that it is on the record, it's been provided, which is what Enbridge's obligation is to do and it has done so within the context of the consultation record that it is providing.

So I think it is not an undertaking we will do.  That is something that the intervenor can do on its own.

MS. FERGUSON:  It troubles me, that response.  But I will move on.

I will move on to water crossings and the question is, will Enbridge be required to obtain any permits from the department of Fisheries and Oceans Canada for the proposed project?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  Subject to the review, potentially, yes.

MS. FERGUSON:  Could you expand further on that?

MR. PARK:  Yes.  As far as permit issuance, Fisheries and Oceans Canada would issue a permit under the Fisheries Act or, as far as water courses are concerned, they also issue permits under the Species at Risk Act.

For past projects, we have not been issued permits under the Fisheries Act.  They are satisfied -- have been satisfied in the past with the appropriate mitigation and deem it a low risk to violate that Act.  So no permits are issued under the Fisheries Act from that perspective.

And we will be working through Fisheries and Oceans regarding these species at risk, should species-at-risk permits be required for any of the water course crossings.

MS. FERGUSON:  And are there any water course crossings in particular [audio dropout]?

[Reporter appeals.]


MR. PARK:  I'm sorry, can you repeat the question?

MS. FERGUSON:  Are there any water crossings in particular that are still under consideration for DFO permits?

MR. PARK:  We have not made any applications or submissions for review of any of the water course crossings. So all of them technically would be under their review.

MS. FERGUSON:  Have you had a chance to review Kettle and Stony Point First Nations' 2017 water assertion?  It was included in Appendix A of the interrogatories, and it is also registered federally and has been provided both to Enbridge and to DFO.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Yes.  We have reviewed it.

MS. FERGUSON:  And could you elaborate a bit more on Enbridge's understanding of that water assertion as it relates to waterways affected by the project?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Well, we would very much like the opportunity to meet with Kettle and Stony Point to have a better understanding, given that we were provided documentation in paper form submitted as part of these proceedings.  So we would like to sit down and meet and have a better understanding of the particular assertions that they're making.

And I would be happy to bring up that particular document, if you would like any further comments.

MS. FERGUSON:  No.  That's okay for right now.  Again, it is concerning how many times the answer is Enbridge is interested to meet, whether it is cumulative impacts or the water assertion.  Essentially that just bumps everything down beyond the OEB proceeding so that these conversations aren't happening in front of the OEB.

But I would like to move on to, again, just the DFO, and is it correct to expect that affected parties, such as Kettle and Stony Point First Nation, will be contacted by DFO regarding these permits?  Or is this a piece of the delegation of procedural aspects to the duty to consult that Enbridge -- we would be expecting to be contacted by Enbridge regarding those Crown permits?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  I wouldn't be able to comment on Fisheries and Oceans procedures regarding their contacting Indigenous communities under permits.

MS. FERGUSON:  And otherwise for Enbridge, if a permit was required, would it be practice of Enbridge to reach out to the impacted First Nation and notify them of the permit?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  It's my past practices and it is my understanding moving forward that if there is a permit under the purview of Fisheries and Oceans Canada that requires consultation, it is in the interests of Enbridge and the impacted Indigenous communities that we reach out for consultation on that matter in advance of Fisheries and Oceans in order to assist with the, I guess timelines of the permitting review.

MS. FERGUSON:  I would like to move on to a similar topic, but it was mentioned previously that Enbridge is working on responses to Kettle and Stony Point's comments on the environment report.

And I believe it was July 5th that Kettle and Stony Point filed those comments directly with Enbridge.  It is not on the record through the OEB.  But what we could place it on the record, if that is beneficial.

Just wondering what the update is on receiving responses to that.  We're headed almost to submitting them one month ago and have not heard anything yet.

Could Enbridge respond to when Kettle and Stony Point could receive a full response to all of those comments and questions?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I don't have a date, and perhaps my colleague -- it is Catherine Pennington from Enbridge.  Perhaps my colleague, Ryan Park, may have a timeline.

I would say, you know, just again, given that this has come in eight months after it was initially provided to the nation, but we understand that sometimes additional time is needed, and given it was provided July 5th and we are working to provide comment, we will be doing so as expeditiously as possible.

And I don't know, Ryan, if you have any specific timelines?

MR. PARK:  No.  I don't have any specific timelines for this response as of yet.

MS. FERGUSON:  Could you commit that Enbridge would provide its response no later than one week prior to the date of intervenor final written submissions, which I believe is August 31st?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't know if it is fair to ask the witness to commit to that on the witness stand without actually conferring back to where things are in the process, and the progress made with respect to reviewing the commentary.

MS. FERGUSON:  Would you accept it as an undertaking, then, to provide a date -- to go back to the team and provide a date of when Kettle and Stony could anticipate to receive a response to those comments and questions?

MR. KEIZER:  We can certainly undertake to clarify as to what the status is of the review and where things stood.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We will call that JT2.12. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.12:  TO CLARIFY THE STATUS OF THE REVIEW AND WHERE THINGS STAND.

MS. FERGUSON:  Could you discuss Enbridge's understanding of any specialized habitats associated with the project in the study area?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  Specialized habitats, our understanding, are ones that were previously known, have been presented in the environmental report, such as species-at-risk habitats, deer wintering yards and -- among others.

Currently we are undertaking site-specific field surveys throughout the project area.  The results of those will also inform and be included in our permit applications, where necessary.

Is there any particular --


MS. FERGUSON:  The specialized habitats that I am referring to is the Significant Wildlife Habitat Technical Guide, and that would include -- for eco region 70, that would include waterfowl nesting area, bald eagle and osprey nesting, foraging and purging habitat, woodland raptor nesting habitat, turtle nesting areas, seeps and springs, amphibian breeding habitat, wetland amphibian breeding habitat, wetland, as well as woodland area-sensitive bird breeding habitat.

Have you come across any of those habitats along the pipeline proposed route where it stands today?

MR. PARK:  I can confirm that some of those mentions have likely been come across.  I can't comment on the specific findings of the field work, as it is still undergoing.

MS. FERGUSON:  And when will the results of the field work be available for Kettle and Stony Point to review?

MR. PARK:  We will be producing a natural heritage report that will summarize the findings.  That will likely be ready sometime late 2022.

MS. FERGUSON:  So you are anticipating that that natural heritage report would not be available for review until after the OEB makes their decision on this leave-to-construct application?

MR. PARK:  That is correct.

MS. FERGUSON:  In that natural heritage review, will you be developing plans on how to protect these specialized habitats in the study area?

MR. PARK:  Where necessary, yes.  We will be developing plans to add to any mitigation that has not already been included in the environmental report, to protect those features to the extent possible.

MS. FERGUSON:  And is that something that Enbridge would be willing to share with Kettle and Stony Point as soon as it is available?

MR. PARK:  I will defer to Catherine, because I do not handle the negotiations and consultations.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Thanks.  Ms. Ferguson, could you just repeat that question?

MS. FERGUSON:  I am just wondering about the natural heritage study report that will be developed.  As it stands, it seems the timeline would be after the OEB has already made a decision on the leave-to-construct application.

The question is whether Enbridge would be willing to provide that Natural Heritage Report to Kettle and Stony Point for review.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Enbridge would be prepared to provide reports to Kettle and Stony Point and other nations, as is typical practice for projects of this nature.

I am not familiar with this particular report, and so I am just reluctant to make that commitment as I am not familiar with it.

MS. FERGUSON:  The report, the contents of the report would be information on any kind of specialized habitat along the project route.  And as Mr. Park has indicated, it would be plans to reduce the impact to those habitats.

So the contents I don't think would be much different than, for example, the environment report that was shared with Kettle and Stony Point.

MS. PENNINGTON:  So I am reluctant to speculate, as I am not familiar with this report.  But what I can say principally is that if this report and reports of its nature are reports that we would publicly share, then we would publicly share with Kettle and Stony Point.

MS. FERGUSON:  Has Enbridge identified any blue ash along the proposed route?

MR. PARK:  This is Ryan Park, Enbridge.  To date, no blue ash has been identified along the route.  We are continuing our vegetation surveys, and if any blue ash is identified we will provide that information to the Indigenous communities who would like to receive such.

MS. FERGUSON:  And can you clarify, in terms of aquatic or fisheries-focussed databases, why at least within the environment report it does not seem that Enbridge went to look at any aquatic or fisheries-focussed databases.  Can you explain why?

MR. PARK:  I believe the fisheries and oceans mapping was included in -- species risk mapping was included in the environmental report, as well as drainage mapping, which has drain classifications and associated, I guess, fisheries information in those drainage classifications as well.  So those were included in the environmental report.

MS. FERGUSON:  And I seem to remember that the drainage classes, that there were comments from other treaty partners, other First Nations that there was concern about the class of water crossings.

So can you confirm whether all water crossings were assessed for aquatic or fisheries-focussed impacts?

MR. PARK:  Our fisheries habitat assessments are occurring this month.  So, yes, they will be fisheries and habitats assessments at the water course crossings will be completed.

MS. FERGUSON:  And that information, would that be part of the Natural Heritage Report?

MR. PARK:  Yes.

MS. FERGUSON:  So the impacts, the fisheries impacts, again, that information would not be put forward until after the anticipated OEB decision?

MR. PARK:  That is correct.  Detailed habitat information is not a requirement for the OEB.

MS. FERGUSON:  Can you confirm for me whether or not the Ontario Breeding Bird Atlas was searched? 

MR. PARK:  I cannot confirm offhand.  I do know several questions regarding which specific resources were used in the environmental report was requested as part of the July submission of comments to the ER, and we can address that in those responses.

MS. FERGUSON:  Could you undertake under this technical conference just to clarify yes or no whether the Ontario Breeding Bird Atlas was searched?

MR. PARK:  We can, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  JT2.13.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.13:  TO CONFIRM (A) WHETHER THE ONTARIO BREEDING BIRD ATLAS WAS SEARCHED; (B) WHY THE BUTTERFLY ATLAS WAS EXAMINED BUT NOT THE MOTH ATLAS.


MS. FERGUSON:  Can you clarify whether the -- why the butterfly atlas was examined, but not the moth atlas?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  Again, that is another response -- a question that was asked on the ER that we are currently going through, and we will be providing a response to that when we submit our responses for that.

MS. FERGUSON:  Because it is a similar nature, can we just add that to JT2.13?

MR. PARK:  Yes, we can.

MS. FERGUSON:  In terms of air quality and noise, can you elaborate why it is reasonable for Enbridge to conclude that no substantial air emissions will occur during the operation of the pipeline?

MR. PARK:  It is Ryan Park, Enbridge.  My understanding is the environmental assessment for air and noise that is presented in the Environmental Report is assessing the impacts of construction.

So generally, it is dust and noise and exhaust from construction equipment.  And when it speaks to operations, that is referring to any integrity digs or things of that nature to do with construction equipment and that process.

And the air and noise emissions that you are speaking to are outside the scope of the environmental report, as it is the assumption that any, I guess, air and noise releases or emissions from the facilities is meeting any current regulations of the day.

MS. FERGUSON:  Did Enbridge consider regulations that are in the works regarding greenhouse gas emissions?

MS. WADE:  Good afternoon, Cara-Lynne Wade, Enbridge.  Yes, we did.

MS. FERGUSON:  And I just want to circle back.  I know there was an undertaking for panel 1, but I just want to confirm that Enbridge will be providing as part of that undertaking anticipated greenhouse gas emissions associated with the project, both fugitive and the overall operations emissions.

MS. WADE:  That's correct, yes.  So we will be providing all scope 1 emissions.

MS. FERGUSON:  All scope 1, okay.  That information -- if it wasn't already made clear, the information for that undertaking, if you could -- we understand that there will be a net decrease with the decommissioning retiring of the seven compressors.

But if you could provide the project -- if the project is to proceed in its operations, the scope 1 emissions for the project -- we're not interested really in the decrease.  We would like to see once it is in operation, what the scope 1 emissions are for the project.

MS. WADE:  Yes.  We can undertake to do that.

MS. FERGUSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.14.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.14:  TO PROVIDE SCOPE 1 EMISSIONS FOR THE PROJECT, ONCE IT IS IN OPERATION


MS. FERGUSON:  Will the proposed project emit any nitrous oxides, volatile organic compounds, or sulphur dioxide?

MS. WADE:  Cara-Lynne Wade, Enbridge Gas.  The nitrous oxide emissions are less.  We have permits for our facilities which show that we're already meeting all compliance obligations and know that these will be reduced as well.

MS. FERGUSON:  Would you undertake just to provide those numbers, even if they do meet current guidelines, just to know what the current emissions of nitrous oxides are?

MS. WADE:  Yes.  To the extent possible, we can provide those.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT --


MS. FERGUSON:  And that would be...

MR. MILLAR:  It's JT2.15. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.15:  TO PROVIDE CURRENT DATA REGARDING EMISSIONS OF NITROUS OXIDES, VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS, OR SULPHUR DIOXIDE FOR THE PIPELINE, THE DAWN STATION, AND THE CORUNNA COMPRESSOR STATION.


MS. FERGUSON:  So that would be for the pipeline, the Dawn station, and the Corunna compressor station.  So all components that -- as this piece of the project?

MS. WADE:  It would be related to, yes, all aspects of this project.

MS. FERGUSON:  And does Enbridge currently report this facility-specific emissions data pursuant to the Canada-U.S. Air Quality Agreement?

MS. WADE:  I would have to get back to you potentially on the level.  We report our scope 1 emissions, but to my understanding it is not down to this level, down to a project-specific level.

MS. FERGUSON:  Would you undertake to provide the information that you do submit to the Canada-U.S. Air Quality Agreement, given that this project is a piece of that?

MS. WADE:  I can undertake to provide to you -- sorry, just to clarify the question, are you asking for what we provide in our public filings to -- on an annual basis for our scope 1 emissions?

MS. FERGUSON:  I am asking for the information that you submit in terms of your facilities, that you submit to the Canada-U.S. Air Quality Agreement.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, are you talking about all of the Enbridge facilities?  Or just facilities related to this pipeline?

MS. FERGUSON:  Well, I am asking for this pipeline, but the response was that it is perhaps not broken down into project-specific.  So initially I am not asking for the whole system, but if the whole system is the numbers you've got, then I am asking if you would undertake that given that this project is a piece of that.

MR. KEIZER:  And what does that show?  If you have all of it, or only a small piece of it?  I guess I am just trying to understand the purpose of the undertaking.

MS. FERGUSON:  Mm-hmm.  Well, just the emissions from the project, whether it is nitrous oxides or VOCs or sulphur dioxide, there is -- there is reporting requirements to the Canada-U.S. Air Quality Agreement.

So I am just asking for this project, what it would contribute to those specific emissions.

MR. KEIZER:  That is a different question, and I am not sure if Ms. Wade has an answer as to what the incremental amount would be or what -- or net amount would be.

MS. WADE:  Yes.  The net decrease of those emissions that I spoke about last week, so the 600 in fugitive emissions reductions and the 662 stationary, they make up less than 1 percent of our emissions for our scope 1 emissions.  I am not sure if that answers your question.

MS. FERGUSON:  Yeah.  No.  I am looking specific to nitrous oxides and volatile organic compounds and sulphur dioxide associated with this project.

MS. WADE:  I might be misstating, and I can undertake to check this, but I don't think we report those for this project specific.

MS. FERGUSON:  Okay.  But you do report them as a company overall?

MS. WADE:  Sorry, for our scope 1 I was speaking specifically about what we report.  Our nitrous oxide I would have to undertake to check.

MS. FERGUSON:  Yeah, because this is not a question about greenhouse gases and scope 1 emissions.  This is specific to nitrous oxides, volatile organic compounds, or sulphur dioxide that are required to be reported by facilities pursuant to the Canada-U.S. Air Quality Agreement.

MS. WADE:  Yes.  So I can undertake.  I don't have those numbers with me, so I can undertake to provide you with the information that we have.

MS. FERGUSON:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  It is JT2.16. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.16:  TO PROVIDE THE NUMBERS SPECIFIC TO NITROUS OXIDES, VOLATILE ORGANIC COMPOUNDS, OR SULPHUR DIOXIDE THAT ARE REQUIRED TO BE REPORTED BY FACILITIES PURSUANT TO THE CANADA-U.S. AIR QUALITY AGREEMENT.

MS. FERGUSON:  Could you explain for me how a foot patrol along a pipeline is able to detect fugitive emissions?

MS. WADE:  I know that we have leak survey equipment.  I wouldn't be able to speak to the specific technical functioning of that equipment, but it is done along the pipeline to gather information on any leaks.

MS. FERGUSON:  Could you undertake to explain how a foot patrol -- and this is back to the IRs.  This is CKSPFN 3, response E.

MS. WADE:  Yes.

MS. FERGUSON:  That was in relation to foot patrol being used.

Now, I just don't understand if foot patrol is somebody walking along and seeing if they smell gas or is there some kind of technology that is used along pipeline corridors to be able to detect fugitive emissions?

So if you could undertake to provide some information on what technology is used, that would be helpful.

MS. WADE:  Yes, absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  JT2.17.  
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.17:  TO PROVIDE SOME INFORMATION ON WHAT TECHNOLOGY WAS USED FOR A FOOT PATROL.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, just before you continue.

Mr. Millar, can you advise, like, in terms of timing, just so we know what we're working towards in terms of a break and other things.

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, we only had one -- we have one break scheduled for today, which we're past the time of, but we have only been going for an hour and 15 minutes or so.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, that's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  So I would like to go until 2:30 to take a break, and then we can see where we are then.

MR. KEIZER:  Okay.  That's fine, thank you.

MS. FERGUSON:  And just so I am clear as well, I know that I am taking -- it is taking a little bit more time to get through these questions than I anticipated and I would like to pass over to my colleague, Zack Hamm, shortly.

Would you like me to finish my section and then Zack could take over after the break?

MR. MILLAR:  It depends how we're doing for timing, but if you are done around 2:30, then that makes sense.  If you are done before then I think we can start with Mr. Hamm.

MS. FERGUSON:  Okay.  I am wondering in regards to the fugitive emissions, if there's -- if there are fugitive emissions that are detected -- obviously we know there is fugitive emissions associated with pipelines and aboveground infrastructure and certainly with compressors.

But is there a threshold where fugitive emissions from a specific point source influence Enbridge's decision to repair or to make plans to change infrastructure?  Is there kind of a quantified amount along a pipeline that would lead you to make repairs to a pipeline?

MS. WADE:  Yes.  Cara-Lynne Wade, Enbridge.  So all leaks identified would be documented, and I can -- I don't have with me what the threshold would be for us to undertake a repair for that.

MS. FERGUSON:  But there is a threshold?

MS. WADE:  I would have to defer to my team on if and what that threshold is.

MS. FERGUSON:  Okay.  Could we undertake a response to that, what the threshold is for repairing fugitive emissions leaks?

MS. WADE:  Yes.  We can undertake that.

MR. MILLAR:  JT2.18. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.18:  TO ADVISE THE THRESHOLD FOR REPAIRING FUGITIVE EMISSIONS LEAKS.

MS. FERGUSON:  Thank you.  In the response there was a reference to industry-approved best management practices in relation to fugitive emissions.  And I would like to know whether Enbridge would be willing to share with Kettle and Stony Point First Nation and Caldwell First Nation what these industry-approved best management practices are.

MS. WADE:  Yes.  I know that we reference the federal and provincial industry standard factors that are used.  Are you looking for something beyond those?

MS. FERGUSON:  I would just like to better understand what industry-approved best management practices includes and whether it is the reference to those documents or is there something internally at Enbridge.  Just a definition of what you -- what you consider within that industry- approved best management practices.

MS. WADE:  Yes.  I can undertake.  It might come back to pointing you to the federal and provincial industry standard pieces that we are referencing in our response, but I can undertake if there is anything in addition to that that we would add.

MR. MILLAR:  It's JT2.19. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.19:  TO PROVIDE A ENBRIDGE'S DEFINITION OF INDUSTRY-APPROVED BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES, WHETHER THERE IS SOMETHING INTERNAL TO ENBRIDGE BEYOND FEDERAL OR PROVINCIAL GUIDELINES.

MS. FERGUSON:  There was also a reference made to Enbridge's GHG emission reduction strategy, and I am wondering if you would undertake to share with Kettle and Stony Point First Nation and Caldwell First Nation this draft GHG emission reduction strategy.


MS. WADE:  I would say specific to this project, we have included all of the identified reductions.

To your point, we are currently working on developing and implementing a scope 1 and scope 2 GHG emission reduction strategy.

We're not yet at a point where this is fully developed, but we do plan or anticipate that more details around this Enbridge Gas facility GHG emissions reduction strategy will be provided as part of the upcoming rebasing application.

MS. FERGUSON:  And I fully anticipate that this would be something that would be considered outside of the scope of this proceeding, but I would just like to indicate that Kettle and Stony Point, as well as Caldwell, do have a strong interest and active involvement in the development of that strategy.

So that may be something for Ms. Pennington that we could follow up in future meetings outside of this proceeding.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Yes, understood.

MS. FERGUSON:  Thank you.  Kind of the last group of questions is just around hydrogen.  I know there has been some references to hydrogen within this proceeding.

I am wondering what personal blend of hydrogen could TR7 safely transport while maintaining the integrity of the pipeline?

MR. KEIZER:  I am not sure that this panel is in a position to be able to respond to that question.  So I mean -- unless Ms. Wade can?

MS. WADE:  I can give a response and it might not be the full response, Ms. Ferguson.  But I would say that we're still investigating what the -- similar to the response that was provided to the IR, still investigating the maximum personal of hydrogen that could be transported via the pipeline.

MS. FERGUSON:  Perhaps by undertaking, then, could we just get a response to whether Enbridge has any plans to blend hydrogen into TR7, and if so, what percentage.

MS. WADE:  I would say that I think it is -- I apologize, I will try to find the -- if it is number 4.  That we have stated that we have not yet -- we have not yet undertook a study to determine and we have no plans as of this point in time.

MS. FERGUSON:  Is it possible just to get it as an undertaking to confirm that?

MS. WADE:  Sorry, I am just checking my notes here because I believe we did already state it.  I just want to point you to the answer.

MS. FERGUSON:  I see CKSPFN 4 response F.

MS. WADE:  Yes.  That is what I am reading right now.

MS. FERGUSON:  It does say there is potential that Enbridge Gas' existing assets could support the development and utilization of hydrogen storage and transportation.

So it is okay if there is no numbers today, but by undertaking, just to -- yes or no whether it is still being considered.  And if it is being considered, what percentage may be feasible, given whatever engineering standards this pipeline is set to be built at.

MS. WADE:  Yes.  I do believe that it might be in evidence where we state -- or in another IR response, but we can undertake to just point you to that, if it exists already.

MR. MILLAR:  It is JT2.20.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.20:  TO ADVISE WHETHER ENBRIDGE HAS ANY PLANS TO BLEND HYDROGEN INTO TR7, AND IF SO, WHAT PERCENTAGE.


MS. FERGUSON:  Does Enbridge have any plans to blend renewable natural gas into TR7?

MS. WADE:  That has not been part of the project scope, no.

MS. FERGUSON:  And could this pipeline, technologically speaking, is it possible that RNG could be blended, given the materials and connections and proposed use of the gas?

MS. WADE:  From a renewable natural gas, I guess technically possible.

MS. FERGUSON:  Perhaps it would be useful just to have a final undertaking on that one, just so that we've got it on the record.

MR. KEIZER:  It is on the record.  It is transcribed.  She said it is -- she has indicated what she understands to be renewable natural gas --


MS. FERGUSON:  So it is possible.

MR. KEIZER:  There are no plans at this point.  I think that is what you said, Ms. Wade?

MS. WADE:  That's correct.

MS. FERGUSON:  So it is technologically feasible to blend RNG into this pipe.  Do we have any indication on what percent could be RNG?

MS. WADE:  We have not looked at that as part of this project.

MS. FERGUSON:  And is that something that, by undertaking, Enbridge would have any indication on kind of what the max blend of RNG could be in TR7?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think we're going to undertake to study for purposes of this proceeding, because it is not something that's being contemplated at this time.

MS. FERGUSON:  Okay.  I do appreciate the undertakings and all of your time.  I will leave it there and then I will pass it over to my colleague, Zack Hamm, after the break.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, Ms. Ferguson.  I think we will take the break now, but I just want to do a bit of a time check.  We are running a little bit behind.

Mr. Hamm, if you are there, approximately how much time will you need?

MR. HAMM:  Sorry.  Twenty minutes should do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I will ask you to do your very best to stick to that and cut that, if possible.  But I think that should have us okay.  I just want to make sure, Mr. Goudy, you are there as well?

MR. GOUDY:  I am, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  So you will be up after Mr. Hamm and then I think we have -- we may have a few questions from Staff, but then I think we're done.

So let's break for fifteen minutes and come back at 2:45.
--- Recess taken at 2:28 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:45 p.m.

MR. MILLAR:  Let's go back on the record.  And I will pass it to you, Mr. Hamm.
Examination by Mr. Hamm:


MR. HAMM:  Thanks, Michael.  So I will start, I guess, get into it since time is short.

So I'm going to start by talking about the study area a little bit, so the study area boundaries used to assess potential effects of the project and other developments on environmental and socio-economic features.

The first question is, can I have Enbridge explain how Enbridge determined that 100 metres was an appropriate study boundary in this proceeding.


MR. PARK:  Yes, this is Ryan Park, Enbridge.  And I am going to need clarification on the study area boundary terminology.  Is it with respect to the cumulative effects assessments or the project as a whole?

MR. HAMM:  The study area boundary was indicated in the environment report, the executive summary.  So I believe it is for, you know, the impacts assessment.

MR. PARK:  Yes.  With respect to the assessment of alternatives and the project, selection of the preferred route, a larger than 100 metres has been provided.  That is in the mapping.  As far as the cumulative effects assessment, the 100-metre boundary was developed through looking at the OEB environmental guidelines, which does not determine set boundaries for that assessment, as well as other federal cumulative effects assessments don't state specific boundaries that need to be set and allows for professional opinion to develop those -- I guess the extent of the assessments, as far as the 100 metres goes.

That was chosen for this project through the past experience and professional judgment of STANTEC, who conducted this environmental report and cumulative effect assessment.

MR. HAMM:  Okay.  So is it your view that the 100-metre boundary is able to capture all environmental and socio-economic impacts that may affect Caldwell and Kettle and Stony Point First Nations, noting that Kettle and Stony Point made a clear request to expand the study boundary?

MR. PARK:  Yes.  With respect to the cumulative effects assessment, it is of the professional opinion of STANTEC and of Enbridge that the 100-metre boundary is sufficient to capture any residual impacts resulting from the pipeline construction and operation.

MR. HAMM:  Okay, thank you.  Did Enbridge consider the social impacts of the pipeline construction workforce on the surrounding communities?  And this specifically relates to the potential substance abuse, disproportionate impacts on women in communities, and impacts on the sex trade.

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  I am not specifically aware of how that assessment were done or if it was done within the confines of the environmental report and where that fits within the OEB guidelines for that report.

MR. HAMM:  Would you undertake to provide a more comprehensive answer to that question?

MR. PARK:  Yes.  We can undertake to provide a comprehensive answer regarding the requirements of the OEB guidelines that were used to develop the environmental report and where that fits in with that.

MR. MILLAR:  JT2.21. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.21:  TO PROVIDE A COMPREHENSIVE ANSWER REGARDING THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE OEB GUIDELINES THAT WERE USED TO DEVELOP THE ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT AND WHERE THAT FITS IN.

MS. PENNINGTON:  And Catherine Pennington here, Enbridge.  Mr. Hamm, we would also look to have conversations with the Indigenous nations who would like to have conversations about those particular matters to build better into part of our respectful, aware workforce plan in the region.

MR. HAMM:  I appreciate that, Catherine.

My next question is actually what education and/or training have Enbridge employees and contractors received regarding the Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Girls' calls to justice?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Thank you for that question.  It is a very important, one, Mr. Hamm, and I can say to you that as part of our required and mandatory online Indigenous awareness training program that Enbridge has committed that 100 percent of the workforce for Enbridge employees will be required to take that training by the end of 2022.  So we do take this very seriously.

Additionally, our contractors are required to follow a respectful workplace policy, being mindful of the community and issues at large that affect those communities.

MR. HAMM:  I would be interested to see the online modules you are using for that training.  I think Caldwell First Nation in general would be interested and so would Kettle and Stony Point.  So would you undertake to provide those materials to us?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I am not certain of how it is that I would provide that.  I may be able to provide components or a bit of an overview information about it.

I just don't want to commit, Mr. Hamm, to providing you the module, because it is an internal training documentation that is part of our learning system.  So it may not be possible to provide that to an external party.  But we certainly can provide details about it as an undertaking, absolutely.

MR. HAMM:  Thank you --


MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.22. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.22:  TO PROVIDE DETAILS ABOUT THE INTERNAL TRAINING DOCUMENTATION AND MODULES.

MR. HAMM:  So I would like to clarify.  Does Enbridge and its representatives understand the United Nations Declarations of the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, and that every First Nation is a sovereign and self-determined nation under Canadian law?

MS. PENNINGTON:  The question is do we understand the U.N. Declaration?

MR. HAMM:  Yes.

MS. PENNINGTON:  Yes, we do understand the U.N. Declaration.

MR. HAMM:  So with that in mind, I would like to -- I would like Enbridge to explain why they have taken a pan-Indigenous approach to information-sharing.

MS. PENNINGTON:  I'm sorry, I think you might have broken up a little bit for me, Mr. Hamm.  Could you restate that?

MR. HAMM:  Yes.  Can Enbridge explain why they have taken a pan-Indigenous approach to information-sharing?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Well, I don't know that I would agree that we've taken a pan-Indigenous approach to information-sharing.

So we work with a number of Nations across the enterprise, I think well over 300 in Canada and the U.S., and we strive to ensure that in every interaction that we have with every nation that we have that we're taking into account the uniquenesses of that particular Nation, Indigenous group, or Indigenous people.  And so with that comes the way in which we engage with that particular nation.

Now, when it comes to things like Indigenous awareness training, it is very difficult to provide 3- or 4-, 500 different community-specific training programs, so we do provide a more global U.S.- and Canada-based Indigenous training program.  However, local content when applicable is provided to our workforce, and we take that very seriously.

MR. HAMM:  Thank you.  So final question, section.  Which First Nations owned and operated media outlets has Enbridge advertised notices with regarding these projects, this project specifically?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I would have to look that up.  I am not familiar with which media outlets, if any, we have used for this particular project.

MR. HAMM:  Okay.  Could we get an undertaking for that?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Certainly.

MR. MILLAR:  JT2.23. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.23:  TO ADVISE WHICH FIRST NATIONS OWNED AND OPERATED MEDIA OUTLETS HAS ENBRIDGE ADVERTISED NOTICES WITH REGARDING THE PROJECTS.

MR. HAMM:  Thank you.  So in the interests of time I will move on to my next set of questions.

So could you please indicate where in Enbridge's Indigenous peoples policy the principle of wealth-sharing is limited to greenfield projects?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Well, actually, why don't we bring up the Indigenous peoples policy, and that is Exhibit AH, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 4.  Let's see if I've got it right.  It looks like I did.  That's great.

And Mr. Hamm, I would like to actually make a comment for the record here, that this particular peoples policy does not reference greenfield projects as it relates to your comment stated.

I believe that when we replied to the interrogatory specific to questions around equity and wealth-sharing -- and actually, if you just want to scroll down on the Indigenous peoples policy, I will just make note that really what I think we were referencing in the response was more to the spirit and intent of the peoples policy.

I think what we did was, we merged in our response the Indigenous peoples policy and also a report that was published in April -- or, sorry, February of 2022 in which we talk about our path to reconciliation in an updated report.

So we merged both of those documents in our response, and we do not reference greenfield projects in this particular document.

MR. HAMM:  Okay, thank you.  So there seems to be a policy to exclude projects other than greenfield projects in terms of wealth-sharing.

So could Enbridge elaborate on this policy to exclude projects other than greenfield projects?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Yes.  Just to be clear, Mr. Hamm, I don't think it is fair to say we have a policy to exclude non-green field projects.

However, under the current OEB framework, there is not a mechanism that provides us with an opportunity to examine for this particular project wealth sharing or economic benefits as it relates to equity.

However, we are open to examining that more broadly and will continue to have conversations, as we have had with Kettle and Stony Point and others, around their interests and look for opportunities where it is applicable.

MR. HAMM:  Okay, thank you.  So did Enbridge consider or offer equity participation for the original projects, this project that is now being proposed in this application?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I was not a party to those conversations, nor am I aware of any equity or financial options that were offered to the original scope of the project.

MR. HAMM:  So to be clear on that, you can't answer yes or no to that question?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I can't answer yes or no to that question because I was not working for the company at that time.  But I can assume the answer would be no, given we're not aware of any existing agreements.

MR. HAMM:  Great.  Could I get maybe an undertaking on that, just to verify it?

MS. PENNINGTON:  So you would like an undertaking for us to look at the records of when this original project was constructed to see if there was an equity offering?

MR. HAMM:  Yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Talking about when the original Dawn-Corunna facility was created?

MR. HAMM:  I would say most recently, the beginning of this particular project is the more specific --


MR. KEIZER:  The pipeline project that is in question here?

MR. HAMM:  Correct.

MR. KEIZER:  The one that is proposed.  Sorry, not the existing facility, but the one that is proposed?

MR. HAMM:  Correct.

MR. KEIZER:  So the question is to confirm whether or not any equity opportunity was offered in respect of the proposed project?

MR. HAMM:  Correct.

MS. PENNINGTON:  And then the answer to that is no, we have not offered equity in relation to this project.

MR. HAMM:  Okay, thank you.  So could you please explain why the Dawn to Corunna pipeline project does not qualify as a green field project, given it will be a new pipeline right-of-way?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Well, as I stated, this particular project falls under the OEB guidelines and OEB regulations, and there is not an existing mechanism for revenue sharing or equity available to us at this time as it relates to this project.

MR. HAMM:  Okay.  So I will move on to my next set of questions.

So are you aware that First Nations traditional territory and treaty rights often extend beyond colonial boundaries set by treaties?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I am aware of that.

MR. HAMM:  Thank you.  So given the high archeological potential of the stage one archeological assessment conducted by STANTEC, and this potential that was identified in the stage one report, could Enbridge explain why Caldwell First Nation wasn't on the stakeholder list and why there is no invitation or notification to participate in the field work?

MS. PENNINGTON:  So the nations that were identified as part of our guidelines and requirements rather provided by the Ministry of Energy did not include Caldwell First Nation.

So they were not listed by the ministry as part of the Five Nations that were identified that Enbridge was required to consult on behalf of the Crown for.

Therefore, we did not include them, given that was not our direction.  But we have since had conversations with Caldwell.  We understand that they would like to par tis participate in field work and we are working towards achieving that.

MR. HAMM:  Okay.  So are you aware that Enbridge representatives have declined to sign funding agreements for Caldwell First Nation field representation?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I am aware that field work agreements that were provided to Enbridge are required to go through additional legal and regulatory review internally, because the agreement that was provided to us by Caldwell was outside of our standard agreement.

And so I believe that we're working towards finding an agreement that will work for both parties.  So I wouldn't say that we have declined.  I think we're working towards finding an agreement that will work for both parties.

MR. HAMM:  Okay.  So are you aware that each First Nation has varying and unique capacity and capacity funding needs for archeological environmental field representation technical review?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I am aware of that, yes.

MR. HAMM:  Okay.  So could you then explain Enbridge's pan-Indigenous approach to First Nation field representation contracts, when each First Nation is entitled to maintaining a unique nation to nation relationship with the Crown and its designates?

MS. PENNINGTON:  I would say a unique relationship goes beyond an agreement on paper.  And so what is important is that we have a working relationship with the nation and we meet, to the best of our ability, the nation's needs and address their concerns outside of the standard format.

That said, for administrative purposes, having a standard agreement works best for all parties we find.  That said, we are always willing to have the correspondence and come to an agreement with a nation on what agreement format works best for them, as we were doing with Caldwell at this time.

MR. HAMM:  I am glad you say that.  So I think that is -- that concludes my questions for now.  I would like to yield, I think.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Mr. Hamm.  Mr. Goudy, are you ready to go?

MR. GOUDY:  I am.  Can you hear me?

MR. MILLAR:  I can.  Please proceed.
Examination by Mr. Goudy:


MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  Good afternoon, panel.  I am John Goudy.  I'm counsel for the CAEPLA-DCLC group, and I've got a couple of questions that I asked to panel 1 the other day, and several other questions that I had intended for panel 2 from the beginning.

So the first set of questions I've got relate to Enbridge's response to CAEPLA-DCLC IR number 2, and that starts at PDF page 46.

So interrogatory part A asked for route plans for individual properties.  And Enbridge's response at that time said that they were being finalized and the -- you don't need to bring this up, but Enbridge's response to Staff IR 15 said that Enbridge Gas has initiated preliminary discussions with CAEPLA, but has not initiated formal land negotiations at this stage of the project.  Enbridge Gas will commence formal negotiations with -- negotiations with landowners when survey drawings are completed.

So my question to you is, are survey drawings for each property available at this time?  And if not, when will they be available?

MR. MOELLER:  This is Trey Moeller with Enbridge.  I do not believe that they are completed now.  I think they're out there doing surveys currently.  So the individual properties are not -- the surveys and the detailed drawings are not completed.

MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  And in that same response to IR 2, part A, Enbridge says that it made -- so this is with respect to the alignment sheets that were included in the response, and Enbridge said it had made certain advancements to the design of the proposed project.

And I am just wondering if you are able to identify what those advancements are, and what is meant by advancements in the response.

MR. NOKES:  Trey Moeller, Enbridge.  I don't know what those advancements are.  I don't know if Ryan or one of the other panel members would be able to speak to that.

MR. GOUDY:  I would be happy to take an undertaking, if you could undertake to provide further detail of the reference to advancements in that response.

MR. MOELLER:  I will take that undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.23 -- does that sound right to folks?

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Mr. Millar, I have already written that one down.

MR. MILLAR:  I think you are right.  This is JT2.24.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  That's correct.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.24:  WITH REFERENCE TO CAEPLA-DCLC IR 2A AND ALIGNMENT SHEETS INCLUDED IN THE RESPONSE, TO IDENTIFY ADVANCEMENTS AND TO EXPLAIN WHAT IS MEANT BY ADVANCEMENTS IN THE RESPONSE.


MR. GOUDY:  If we just move ahead to the response to IR 2, sub D, which is PDF page 47, DCLC asked for interim or final monitoring reports for other pipelines that are located in the corridor for the proposed project.

And Enbridge had provided information about pipeline TR1 and TR2, which are the Tecumseh gas pipelines.

And in my questions to panel 1, I had asked about information for the other Enbridge pipelines that are in the corridor that is -- there's an NPS 8 pipeline, an NPS 10 pipeline, and the NPS 30 Payne pool transmission line.

Enbridge's response on the request for interim and final monitoring reports was that they were not ordered by the OEB for TR1 and TR2.  And the DCLC request wasn't intended to be restricted to monitoring reports that were ordered by the OEB.

And so my request is for production of any interim or final monitoring reports prepared by Enbridge or its predecessor companies for any of those five pipelines that I have identified, whether or not the report was ordered by the OEB.

Could I have an undertaking to provide those reports, please?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  I am currently not aware of the existence of any interim or final monitoring reports associated with any of those pipelines, but, yes, we can take an undertaking to review our documentation to confirm whether or not they are there, and to provide them.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.25.  
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.25:  TO REVIEW AND PROVIDE ANY INTERIM OR FINAL MONITORING REPORTS PREPARED BY ENBRIDGE OR ITS PREDECESSOR COMPANIES FOR ANY OF THE FIVE PIPELINES THAT HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED, WHETHER OR NOT THE REPORT WAS ORDERED BY THE OEB.

MR. GOUDY:  In DCLC IR 2F, DCLC asked what Enbridge is doing to investigate and remediate residual damage from the existing -- the construction of the existing pipelines.

And Enbridge's response at PDF page 47 was that Enbridge Gas was not able to find any record of damage caused to soils or residual damage having been caused by previous Enbridge Gas pipeline construction projects on these properties.

And so my question is, as part of the current project, does Enbridge intend to analyze the condition of the soils within the working area, so that is the permanent easement and the temporary work space area, that overlaps with any working area from a previous pipeline construction to determine whether there's residual damage and to take any steps to remediate that residual damage?

MR. MOELLER:  This is Trey Moeller with Enbridge.  You know, as stated, Enbridge isn't aware of any residual damage on the previous project that hadn't already been mitigated.

So unless -- I will let Ryan hop in as well if he has got comments, but I don't think that Enbridge would look to fix the pre-existing conditions on the easement and the TLU that we're looking at for this proposed project, to fix it, from a previous project that would have already been mitigated through compensation or other measure.

MR. GOUDY:  The next question -- or one of the subsequent questions that DCLC asked -- it's 2(i) -- was whether Enbridge would agree to strip and store topsoil from areas that were not affected by previous pipeline constructions, separately from top soils stripped from areas that were affected by previous construction.

And Enbridge's response was, no, that it has processes in place to minimize any admixing of topsoil, and therefore separation of topsoil piles is not necessary.

So my first question of clarification is, what are the processes in place to prevent admixing of previously disturbed topsoil and previously undisturbed topsoil?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.

As far as they prevent the mixing of previously disturbed and undisturbed top soils, we do not have any processes in place to prevent the mixing of those soils.

Enbridge is unsure of the benefit of separately stripping previously disturbed or undisturbed topsoil separately.  However, this is something that we are open for negotiations, which is ongoing.

MR. GOUDY:  Just to confirm, the reason I asked is because Enbridge's response to the interrogatory was that it does have processes in place to minimize admixing.

So I had understood that there was a process in place, but it is something that Enbridge is open to considering.  Is that correct?

MR. PARK:  Yes, that is correct.  As far as admixing, we have processes in place to prevent or limit admixing of topsoil with subsoil layers, weather shutdowns, full stripping, soils inspectors, things like that, to that nature, yes.

MR. GOUDY:  And at interrogatory 2M from DCLC asked -- and this relates to an answer, Mr. Park, that you gave to Three Fires earlier.

DCLC asked why neither the environmental report nor the application include a cumulative effects assessment of the interaction between existing pipelines and the proposed pipelines.

And Enbridge's response in M, which is on the screen, was that:

"Developments already in place are assessed as existing conditions, which is provided in section 4:  Impact identification, assessment, and mitigation of the Environmental Report.  Where residual effects from impacts on these existing conditions remain after mitigation, they are carried forward to the cumulative effect assessment."

So my first question is, should the second sentence in that response say "where residual effects from impact of these existing conditions" instead of "impact on these existing conditions"?  Is that a typographical error?

MR. PARK:  Well, to be considered part of the cumulative effects assessment, there needs to be residual impacts from the previous pipelines, as well as the proposed.  So it is correct as written.

MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  And am I correct in understanding that there is no cumulative effects assessment provided for the existing pipelines?

MR. PARK:  No, that is incorrect.  The existing pipeline features were included as part of the cumulative effects assessment.

MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  Could I -- just to save time today, could I have an undertaking for you to provide the references to where in the environmental report the existing pipelines are -- the cumulative effect of the existing pipelines is dealt with?

MR. PARK:  Yes, we can take that as an undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  JT2.26. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.26:  TO PROVIDE THE REFERENCES TO WHERE IN THE ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE EXISTING PIPELINES IS DEALT WITH.

MR. GOUDY:  My follow-up question, although, I mean, this is going to be subject to the answer that we get on the undertaking, does Enbridge take the position that there are no residual effects from the impacts of the existing pipelines?

MR. PARK:  No, Enbridge does not.  Although no previous studies or information is available, through our past experience in natural gas pipeline projects we anticipate that there would be residual impacts from previous construction projects.

MR. GOUDY:  This is something that I also assume will be part of the answer to the undertaking that you have just given, but the OEB guidelines for construction of pipelines refer to the incremental increase of easement width when adding new parallel pipelines.

And my question is, what analysis did Enbridge do with respect to the incremental increase in the easement width that will be created by this project?

MR. PARK:  We can address that in the undertaking.

MR. GOUDY:  Thank you.  Moving on to Enbridge's response to DCLC interrogatory 3, it begins at PDF page 66.  
So this is related to the last question.  Enbridge had responded -- in response to questions about the possibility of overlapping, Enbridge said that:  
"New easement is required for CAEPLA-DCLC properties in order to meet necessary setbacks from existing infrastructure for safety reasons and to facilitate integrity digs and maintenance work around the proposed pipeline.  Where appropriate, Enbridge Gas has proposed to overlap the new easement with existing easements".

My first follow up question is whether Enbridge has overlapped the new easement with existing easement to the maximum extent that it can, in light of the safety reasons and integrity and maintenance work cited by Enbridge.

MR. MOELLER:  Excuse me, Trey Moeller with Enbridge.  There are -- if you wanted to pull it up CAEPLA-DCLC 2, attachment 1, page 9 through 16, are the maps.  No, zoom in.

Basically what I am going to show is from nine to the crossover for the rest of the pipeline, there is overlapping easement.

So where the proposed pipeline is closest to the twins, there's overlapping easement that occurs from that crossover all the way to the end.

As far as answering the question towards maximizing, there's other -- there's lots of other factors that are considered I'm sure by engineering when they make this design.  So I don't -- I don't feel like I am able to answer that yes, we have maximized it.

There might be some, you know, you might be able to get a feet or inch or a little bit closer, but there are probably other factors that design and engineering had to consider to place it here.

So some of those necessary setbacks keep that proposed pipeline off of the other existing easements and the other pipelines for those safety reasons.

MR. GOUDY:  The easement that has been requested or proposed in this proceeding and application is a 23 meter wide easement.

MR. MOELLER:  Yes.

MR. GOUDY:  What analysis was done by Enbridge to determine that 23 metres is the necessary width?

MR. MOELLER:  The -- as far as the required easement of the 23 metres, I don't have that information.  I was told that they use a minimum setback of ten metres off of an existing pipeline.

So that is where they want to make sure that they stay off of.

As far as the 23 metres, I think that is just to make sure they're able to get in and do work, but I don't have that information.

MR. GOUDY:  Could Enbridge -- is it possible for Enbridge to reduce the width of the permanent easement and simply use temporary work space in the future if they need to get in to do work on the pipeline?

MR. MOELLER:  I would have to get input and feedback from the design team that provides that information.

My team with lands and right-of-way is not the group that sets those easement widths.

MR. GOUDY:  Could you provide an undertaking to obtain that information?

MR. MOELLER:  I will -- if the undertaking is to get information on why the width is set the way that it is from the design team, yes, I can do that.

MR. GOUDY:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  JT2.27.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.27:  (A) TO ADVISE WHETHER IT IS POSSIBLE FOR ENBRIDGE TO REDUCE THE WIDTH OF THE PERMANENT EASEMENT AND SIMPLY USE TEMPORARY WORK SPACE IN THE FUTURE IF THEY NEED TO GET IN TO DO WORK ON THE PIPELINE; (B) TO ADVISE WHETHER IT IS POSSIBLE TO REDUCE THE PERMANENT EASEMENT IF TEMPORARY WORKING SPACE IS AVAILABLE IN THE FUTURE TO DO INTEGRITY AND MAINTENANCE WORK.


MR. GOUDY:  As a secondary question there, would you also be able to ask if it is possible to reduce the size of the permanent easement if temporary working space is available in the future to do the integrity and maintenance work?

MR. MOELLER:  And just have that as a part of that same undertaking?

MR. GOUDY:  Yes, please.

MR. MOELLER:  Yes.

MR. GOUDY:  Thank you.  DCLC interrogatory 4, I will move on.  It is pipeline depth of cover.  It starts at PDF page 68.

And Enbridge's response to 4, sub C, was that it would endeavour -- following construction, it would endeavour to maintain a minimum of sixty centimetres of cover over agricultural -- over the pipe and agricultural lands.

And can you confirm sixty centimetres is the minimum depth of cover required by the CSA standard Z662?

MR. MOELLER:  No, I won't confirm that.  What I will state is that the minimum depth of cover that they're looking to put on the project is 1.2 metres for these agricultural lands.

MR. GOUDY:  If it is determined --


MR. MOELLER:  The sixty centimetre minimum, I think it came from the OEB reference, regulation 210-01, clause 10.6.5.5.

MR. GOUDY:  I think that is correct.  My understanding is that's adopting the Z662 standard.  But in any event, can you confirm that the minimum required depth of cover is sixty centimetres?

MR. MOELLER:  I would defer to our compliance group to make those interpretations of the regulations.

I will say that Enbridge will comply with regular requirements as applicable.

MR. GOUDY:  And my follow up question is, would Enbridge be prepared to commit to something greater than the minimum sixty centimetres?

So it is building the pipeline with 1.2 metres of depth of cover.  If in the future it finds locations where depth of cover has dropped beneath, for instance, 90 centimetres, 0.9 metres, would Enbridge commit to restoring depth to a minimum of 0.9 metres?

MR. MOELLER:  I would -- I would say Enbridge is not willing to commit to that today.  But while we're having the letter of understanding discussions outside of this proceeding, that would be something that Enbridge would be willing to discuss.

MR. GOUDY:  DCLC IR 4, sub H -- so this is in the same set of questions, noted that the -- or the preamble to these questions noted that OEB guidelines require -- so these are the guidelines for applications for leave-to-construct gas pipelines -- require that the depth of the proposed pipeline should be compatible with existing and planned drainage systems.

DCLC asked Enbridge how it determined compatibility of the proposed depth with existing and planned drainage systems.

And Enbridge's response at sub H was that the company will work with each landowner to coordinate a plan to align drainage systems in a manner that allows the project to proceed while avoiding effects on current drainage systems.

And so my question is whether that is saying that Enbridge is not ensuring that the depth of the pipeline as proposed will be compatible with existing drainage systems, but instead is going to require that existing drainage systems be realigned to be compatible with the depth that Enbridge has chosen.

MR. MOELLER:  Trey Moeller with Enbridge.  I don't think it is saying either one of those.  The way I interpret and review that is that Enbridge will work with the landowners.  You know, we've got a qualified drainage consultant that is going to design, design these systems and prepare tiling plans, as necessary.

So through the discussions that I think are going on now with some of the landowners on maybe some of the pre-work and discussion on the tiling, we will work with the landowner through that drainage consultant to figure out what the right plan is to ensure that the drainage and tiling is adequate.

MR. GOUDY:  If the existing drainage system is incompatible with the depth of the pipeline as proposed, is Enbridge prepared to lower the construction depth of its pipeline to accommodate that existing drainage?

MR. MOELLER:  Okay, I understand.  So a hypothetical question, however, I would answer it by, the information that I have received, but from the engineering and construction group is that the 1.2 metres is a minimum, and so if there are adjustments that need to be made in the field that they're able to make, those are some of the things that they will be identifying during field surveys and these discussions with the drainage consultants.

MR. GOUDY:  I take from your earlier response that Enbridge hasn't yet developed plans to ensure that the pipe -- proposed pipeline is compatible with existing drainage systems.  That is a work-in-progress?

MR. MOELLER:  Not to my knowledge.  That has not occurred yet.

MR. GOUDY:  If we could move to interrogatory 5, which is also on the issue of tile drainage.  In DCLC interrogatory 5A, PDF page 78, DCLC asked whether Enbridge would be responsible for repair and replacement of all tile drainage facilities affected by the project, and Enbridge responded that it will be responsible until either the pipeline is removed or the pipeline is abandoned and the owner doesn't require removal.

Does Enbridge guarantee the continuing functionality of the drainage system that is repaired and replaced as a consequence of the project?

MR. MOELLER:  Trey Moeller, Enbridge.  No.  Enbridge would not guarantee that into perpetuity.  That is part of the reasons why the -- the agreements would have to -- you know, once the pipeline is abandoned or as long as the pipeline -- sorry, the easement is affected by the pipeline project, we would have that accountability.  But once the pipe is removed or has been abandoned and the landowner has taken over that accountability, then that is when we would back out.

MR. GOUDY:  So just to clarify, Enbridge would guarantee the continuing functionality of the drainage system until it is no longer involved in the property because its pipeline is abandoned or, you know, it's been released by the landowner?

MR. MOELLER:  Correct.

MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  The next questions I have are about the wet soil shutdown procedure.  So it is interrogatory 7, starting at, I think, PDF 83.

In Enbridge's response to the interrogatories posed on this point, you've provided the environmental guidelines for construction, section 5.18, wet thawed soil procedure, I guess, as attachment 1.

And for these questions that I've got, I also am going to reference the Enbridge response to School Energy Coalition number 1, which is at PDF 579.  If you can bring that up, it is part of the presentation that was made to the board of directors, and there is a table at page 579, I believe.

So I had a couple -- or a question for -- if you keep going down, it is the risk summary table there.  And I had a question for panel 1 about this and I've got a question for panel 2 as well.

So one of the regulatory -- no, sorry, it is the Lands Environment and Schedule Risk.  So this is under the risk column.

One of the risks that is stated by Enbridge in this document is a nine-month expropriation included in schedule.  Maximum historical duration is 13 months.  And then in parentheses it says "four- to six-month schedule delay factoring in winter construction".

And I am wondering if you can explain the statement "four- to six-month schedule delay factoring in winter construction".

MR. MOELLER:  Trey Moeller, Enbridge.  The way I read the bullet is the four-to six-month delay is, if we've got nine months built into the schedule and it takes 13, that is the delay, and if that occurs over the winter -- the winter time period.  But that four to six months is the gap from the nine month we have into the schedule and what it possibly could take to go through that process.

MR. GOUDY:  So is there any possibility of winter construction taking place for this project in agricultural lands?

MR. MOELLER:  It is Trey Moeller, Enbridge.  I have not heard that.  I would defer to maybe others on the panel.

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park of Enbridge.  I am not aware of any contingency plans at this time for constructing during the winter months.

MR. GOUDY:  Are you able to give an undertaking or a commitment that Enbridge will not construct in the winter months?

MR. PARK:  I am -- personally, I am unable to make that commitment on behalf of Enbridge.

MR. GOUDY:  Just in case there might be some plan at some point or -- to construct in winter, does Enbridge -- does Enbridge Gas have experience in constructing pipelines in southwestern Ontario in winter conditions?

MR. MOELLER:  Trey Moeller with Enbridge.  I don't have the knowledge to answer that question for Enbridge Gas.

MR. GOUDY:  Does anyone in the company have that knowledge?  Is that something that could be provided through undertaking?

MR. KEIZER:  Mr. Goudy, can you just repeat your question again so we can be clear what the undertaking request is.


MR. GOUDY:  I am interested in what -- what experience does Enbridge Gas Inc. or Enbridge Gas have in constructing pipelines in agricultural lands in southwestern Ontario in winter conditions.

MR. KEIZER:  Well, I mean, when you say what experience, that's pretty broad, because Enbridge has been around for a long time.  So I will --


MR. GOUDY:  We will say medium to large diameter pipelines, put it that way.

MR. KEIZER:  So let's put it this way.  To the extent that that information can be provided, it will.  And if it can't, then we will advise why it can't.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.28.  
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.28:  TO ADVISE WHAT EXPERIENCE ENBRIDGE GAS INC. OR ENBRIDGE GAS HAS IN CONSTRUCTING PIPELINES IN AGRICULTURAL LANDS IN SOUTHWESTERN ONTARIO IN WINTER CONDITIONS.

MR. GOUDY:  Thank you.  If we could go back to the wet thawed soil protocol at PDF page 87.  If you could just scroll down the screen.  Sorry, it was PDF page 87.  I will just read what I understand it says.  The guidelines for construction say that where topsoil has been replaced all heavy traffic is to be suspended during excessively wet thawed soil conditions, and my question is, I guess, will Enbridge commit to suspending all traffic, all vehicle traffic, in excessively wet thawed soil conditions after topsoil has been replaced and, if not, why won't that commitment be made?

MR. PARK:  This is Ryan Park of Enbridge.  Such a commitment can't be made as a broad scale because there may be individual cases where traffic is required for whatever reason, be it restoring sediment erosion controls or anything else during construction.

But obviously, this would be the last -- I guess last line that we would like to do, because we don't want to incur admixing and compaction to the agricultural lands.

MR. GOUDY:  I will move on to CAEPLA interrogatory 8, starting at PDF page 93.  And Mr. Brophy asked a few questions earlier about the soybean cyst nematode protocol and how Enbridge proposes to deal with that.

I understand from Mr. Park's earlier answer that soil sampling has been done.  And so my question is, exactly what testing was done by Enbridge and at which locations, and what is the interval or distance between test locations?

MR. PARK:  This is Ryan Park of Enbridge.  I cannot speak specifically to the individual testing locations or the number of samples taken from each property.

My understanding of the sampling procedure is that bulk samples were taken from several locations along the proposed work area for each individual property, and then combined and submitted for analysis.

MR. GOUDY:  Is there a written protocol in place for doing that testing and sampling?

MR. PARK:  I cannot speak to the specifics of any protocol that was followed.

It was done under the development of our environmental consultant, who has a long history in conducting such surveys.

MR. GOUDY:  Could you undertake to provide the protocol or the guidelines that were followed for the sampling that has been undertaken?

MR. PARK:  I can undertake to provide the guidelines, Protocol, or procedures that were used, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.29.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.29:  TO PROVIDE THE PROTOCOL OR GUIDELINES FOLLOWED FOR THE SAMPLING THAT HAS BEEN UNERTAKEN.


MR. GOUDY:  And the response to 8 sub A says that local management practices may include pressure washing of equipment upon leaving an infested field and/or topsoil stripping of infested fields.

Are you able to tell me where, generally speaking, where that pressure washing would take place?  Would it take place on the infected property?  Or is there going to be some other location?

MR. PARK:  No.  Standard practice would be having the wash areas located on the last impacted property in a row   prior to crossing over into a non-impacted property.

MR. GOUDY:  Interrogatory 6 dealt with soils handling and the responses are at PDF page 81 and following.

In 6 sub A, DCLC had requested copies of detailed drawings showing soils handling procedures proposed for the project, and Enbridge had said at the time that they were not complete.

Is it still the case that those drawings are not complete?  Or have they been completed?

MR. PARK:  Again, I'm not aware of their completion.  We do have general procedures, but as far as specific drawings, I am not sure if the detailed cross-sections are in a finished state.

Perhaps Trey would be able to -- he may have more knowledge on the state of those cross-sectional drawings.

MR. MOELLER:  I don't.

MR. GOUDY:  Could you undertake to make enquiries as to the status of those drawings, and if they are available, could you produce those to DCLC, or on the record in this proceeding?

MR. PARK:  Yes, we can, to the extent that it is our understanding that negotiations are still ongoing with the LOU, and there may be some discussions or changes that would impact the viability or the relevance of those drawings.

MR. GOUDY:  That's understood.  But this request is being made within the context of the leave-to-construct application.

So I -- my view is that it is relevant for the issues in the proceeding and so it would be helpful to have -- even if it is subject to change, it would be helpful to have the generic drawings.

MR. MILLAR:  The undertaking is JT2.30.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.30:  TO MAKE ENQUIRIES AS TO THE STATUS OF THOSE DRAWINGS, AND IF THEY ARE AVAILABLE, TO PRODUCE THEM TO DCLC, OR TO FILE ON THE RECORD IN THIS PROCEEDING.


MR. KEIZER:  We will appropriately caveat them as necessary, assuming they're even done.  If they're not done, we obviously won't be producing them.

MR. GOUDY:  Yes.  DCLC interrogatory 11 deals with discharge of water.  The response at PDF page 100, DCLC asked for detailed discharge and dewater plans.  Enbridge says that they will be developed prior to the commencement of construction and that they will be done in compliance with best management practices.

And so my question is, what are the best management practices that are referred to in that response, and is there a guideline or some other similar document that is relied upon?

MR. PARK:  Ryan Park, Enbridge.  The best management practices that are referred to are methods and procedures to avoid impacts through erosion and sedimentation to water courses.

The discharge of water will also be managed by requirements of the MACP, that is Ministry of Environment Climate Change and Parks, with requirements under a permit to take water or an easer, which is a registration, to withdraw any groundwater, as well as Fisheries and Oceans and MACP requirements around sedimentation to water courses.

MR. GOUDY:  And will the discharge of water on privately-held lands be restricted to the easement and temporary work space area?

MR. PARK:  Unless there is other agreements reached with impacted landowners, yes.

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry to interrupt, Mr. Goudy.  Oh, just for the record, Ms. Wade who is on this panel, apparently has had some communication difficulties and her call has dropped.  She has lost power, apparently.

So she is attempting to rejoin on her cell phone, to the extent that you had anything -- I am not sure you will, given the nature of your interest.  She is not yet back on the panel, but I think we can continue on and to the extent that she is needed, we will obviously have to deal with it either by way of undertaking or wait until she gets back on.

But just so everyone is aware, both staff and you and the record.

MR. GOUDY:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.  I've only got a couple of questions left and they relate to the option agreement that Enbridge included in its responses.

So I don't think that it is something that Ms. Wade would be responding to.  But if it is, we can deal with it by undertaking.

Just in the interests of time I will finish up, and I will only be a couple of minutes.

So the last questions I have relate to interrogatory 18, which the responses are at PDF page 131 and following.

So the question from DCLC was whether Enbridge intended to request option agreements from landowners, and there is an option for permanent easement that is provided by Enbridge at attachment 1.

So my first question is, is there another form of option agreement to be used for temporary work space?  And if so, can that be provided?

MR. MOELLER:  Trey Moeller with Enbridge.  Yes.  If there is another option form for temporary land use, we will provide that.

MR. MILLAR:  That is JT2.31.
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.31:  TO ADVISE WHETHER THERE IS ANOTHER FORM OF OPTION AGREEMENT TO BE USED FOR TEMPORARY WORK SPACE OR LAND USE, AND IF SO, TO PROVIDE IT.


MR. GOUDY:  Thank you.  My last question relates to clause 4 in this Option For Easement.  So it should be just at the bottom of the page that is on the screen right now, right in the middle.  So clause 4 --


MR. MOELLER:  I will put my glasses on.

MR. GOUDY:  Clause 4 authorizes Enbridge to prepare and register a plan of survey.  Then once that plan of survey is deposited in the land registry, it will be deemed to be the description of the easement with no -- apparently with no further consultation or agreement of the landowner.

So I am wondering, is there any opportunity to be provided to the landowner to review and approve the plan of survey before it is finalized and deposited in the land registry?

MR. MOELLER:  Yes.  I don't see why that would be a problem.  We would probably take that outside, maybe in the LOU discussions and have counsel review what the right language would be.  But I don't see why that would be a problem, from my perspective.  I can't speak to it from a legal perspective.

MR. GOUDY:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions for panel 2.

MR. MILLAR:  Great.  Thank you very much, Mr. Goudy.  I think we are nearing the end today.  It is just Board Staff left, and I understand at least some of Staff's questions have been covered.  Mr. Murray, are you there?

MR. MURRAY:  I am, Mike, thanks.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Please go ahead.
Examination by Mr. Murray:

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  So I have some questions that follow from CAEPLA-DCLC number 4, in which Enbridge Gas stated that it is currently aware of one instance of insufficient depth of cover over a pipeline in the proposed project area.

Enbridge stated that the location is currently undergoing a loading assessment, which is a calculation of stress, the purpose for which is to determine whether external loadings like vehicles crossing the pipeline could cause damage.

I think that means damage to anything, people, environment, property, you know, the pipeline itself, whatever.

Enbridge Gas stated that the loading assessment is not yet complete, so it is unable to produce a report on the matter.  However, in this particular instance Enbridge Gas has indicated to the landowner that they should exercise extra caution when carrying out activities over the pipeline.

So I am just wondering, can Enbridge tell me when this instance of insufficient cover was first identified?

MR. MOELLER:  I do not have the date of that first identification.  I have seen communications between Enbridge and that landowner within -- I want to say the last one I saw was within the last year, where the mitigations and the compensation for those mitigations was discussed and approved.  But I don't have the original -- that original date.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Let me ask a few more questions, and then maybe there might be a takeaway.

When did Enbridge first inform the landowner about the insufficient depth of cover and the potential safety issues around it?  I am guessing it is probably a similar answer.  You are not quite sure.  You have seen correspondence --


MR. MOELLER:  That's correct.

MR. MURRAY:  Yeah.  Okay.  And so I guess maybe a similar answer to, when did Enbridge initiate a loading assessment?  Yes.  So I think what --


MR. MOELLER:  Yeah.  I do -- yeah, we'll just add that to the ones I don't know.  I think it is within the last couple of years, and I am basing that off of some of the communication that I saw in the e-mail traffic, but don't hold me to that.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  So this is kind of a package of five questions that all kind of revolve around this.

I would like to ask for a takeaway to get these dates.  So what I will do for the record and the transcript so you can -- you have a record of what I am asking, I will just read through the questions, and then you guys can take them away.  Mike, I don't know if you want to assign a --


MR. MILLAR:  Let's do a single undertaking if we can.  I think we're --


MR. MURRAY:  Yes, for sure.  So I guess that is, what, JT31 --


MR. MILLAR:  It's JT2.32. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.32:  TO ANSWER THE FOLLOWING QUESTIONS:  WHEN WAS THE INSTANCE OF INSUFFICIENT COVER FIRST IDENTIFIED BY ENBRIDGE GAS?  WHEN DID ENBRIDGE GAS FIRST INFORM THE LANDOWNER ABOUT THE INSUFFICIENT DEPTH OF COVER AND ANY POTENTIAL SAFETY ISSUES?  WHEN DID ENBRIDGE GAS INITIATE THE LOAD ASSESSMENT?  HOW LONG DOES IT TYPICALLY TAKE TO PERFORM A LOADING ASSESSMENT?  AND WHEN DOES ENBRIDGE ANTICIPATE INFORMING THE LANDOWNER OF THE RESULTS OF THE LOADING ASSESSMENT.

MR. MURRAY:  32.

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, go ahead.

MR. MURRAY:  The questions are, can you tell me when was the instance of insufficient cover first identified by Enbridge Gas?

When did Enbridge Gas first inform the landowner about the insufficient depth of cover and any potential safety issues?

When did Enbridge Gas initiate the load assessment?

How long does it typically take to perform a loading assessment?

And when does Enbridge anticipate informing the landowner of the results of the loading assessment?

MR. MOELLER:  Got it.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  And I just have one other question.  This one follows from Staff 16, where OEB staff asked for an update on any communication from the Ministry of Energy regarding Indigenous consultation for the project, and in particular we were interested in the opinion of -- the letter of opinion that comes from the ministry.

Enbridge Gas indicated that the last time it had contacted the ministry on the matter was May 30th, 2022.

So the question is, can Enbridge provide an update on the status of the Indigenous consultation for the project with respect to that letter of opinion from the ministry?

MS. PENNINGTON:  Yes.  We have had subsequent conversations with the ministry through the month of July, and we can certainly provide an undertaking to detail our most recent conversation and any updates from the ministry at that time.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be JT2.33. 
UNDERTAKING NO. JT2.33:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE ON THE STATUS OF THE INDIGENOUS CONSULTATION FOR THE PROJECT WITH RESPECT TO THAT LETTER OF OPINION FROM THE MINISTRY.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Thank you very much for that.  And those are my questions.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Mr. Murray.

I think that is everyone.  Are there any more questions for this panel?  And I am hearing none, so I think that concludes our technical conference.  Thank you so much to the witnesses, to counsel and the parties participating, and of course the court reporter for all of her hard work today.

Why don't we adjourn now.  We will go off the record, but maybe we can just stick around for a moment to talk perhaps at least at a high level about the timing for undertakings and whatnot.  So if we can go off the record now, please.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 3:51 p.m.
87

